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Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-looking Information  

This Annual Report contains forward-looking statements and forward-

looking information within the meaning of applicable Australian securities 

laws, which are based on expectations, estimates and projections as of 

the date of this Report.

Forward-looking information includes, or may be based upon, without 

limitation, estimates, forecasts and statements as to management’s 

expectations with respect to, among other things, the timing and amount 

of funding required to execute the Company’s exploration, development 

and business plans, capital and exploration expenditures, the effect on 

the Company of any changes to existing legislation or policy, government 

regulation of mining operations, the length of time required to obtain 

permits, certifications and approvals, the success of exploration, 

development and mining activities, the geology of the Company’s 

properties, environmental risks, the availability of labour, the focus of 

the Company in the future, demand and market outlook for precious 

metals and the prices thereof, progress in development of mineral 

properties, the Company’s ability to raise funding privately or on a public 

market in the future, the Company’s future growth, results of operations, 

performance, and business prospects and opportunities. Wherever 

possible, words such as “anticipate”, “believe”, “expect”, “intend”, “may” 

and similar expressions have been used to identify such forward-looking 

information.

Forward-looking information is based on the opinions and estimates of 

management at the date the information is given, and on information 

available to management at such time. Forward looking information 

involves significant risks, uncertainties, assumptions and other factors 

that could cause actual results, performance or achievements to differ 

materially from the results discussed or implied in the forward-looking 

information. These factors, including, but not limited to, fluctuations 

in currency markets, fluctuations in commodity prices, the ability of 

the Company to access sufficient capital on favourable terms or at 

all, changes in national and local government legislation, taxation, 

controls, regulations, political or economic developments in Indonesia 

and Australia or other countries in which the Company does business or 

may carry on business in the future, operational or technical difficulties 

in connection with exploration or development activities, employee 

relations, the speculative nature of mineral exploration and development, 

obtaining necessary licenses and permits, diminishing quantities and 

grades of mineral reserves, contests over title to

properties, especially title to undeveloped properties, the inherent risks 

involved in the exploration and development of mineral properties, the 

uncertainties involved in interpreting drill results and other geological 

data, environmental hazards, industrial accidents, unusual or unexpected 

formations, pressures, cave-ins and flooding, limitations of insurance 

coverage and the possibility of project cost overruns or unanticipated 

costs and expenses, and should be considered carefully. Many of these 

uncertainties and contingencies can affect the Company’s actual results 

and could cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed 

or implied in any forward-looking statements made by, or on behalf of, 

the Company. Prospective investors should not place undue reliance on 

any forward-looking information.

Although the forward-looking information contained in this Report is 

based upon what management believes, or believed at the time, to 

be reasonable assumptions, the Company cannot assure prospective 

purchasers that actual results will be consistent with such forward-

looking information, as there may be other factors that cause results not 

to be as anticipated, estimated or intended, and neither the Company 

nor any other person assumes responsibility for the accuracy and 

completeness of any such forward-looking information. The Company 

does not undertake, and assumes no obligation, to update or revise 

any such forward-looking statements or forward-looking information 

contained herein to reflect new events or circumstances, except as may 

be required by law.

No stock exchange, regulation services provider, securities commission or 

other regulatory authority has approved or disapproved the information 

contained in this Report

Competent Person Statement 

The information in this Report that relates to Exploration Targets, 

Exploration Results, Mineral Resources or Ore Reserves is based on 

information compiled by Dr. John Chisholm, a Competent Person who is a 

Member of AusIMM (Australian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy). Dr.

Chisholm is engaged by PYX and has sufficient experience that is relevant 

to the style of mineralisation and type of deposit under consideration 

and to the activity being undertaken to qualify as a Competent Person 

as defined in the 2012 edition of the Australasian Code for Reporting of 

Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves. Dr. Chisholm 

consents to the inclusion in the Report of the matters based on his 

information in the form and context in which it appears.

The Mandiri mineral sands deposit hosts a 6 Mt Inferred JORC 

Resource of zircon. The Company originally announced this resource 

in its Replacement Prospectus released on NSX on 20 February 2020 

and confirms that it is not aware of any new information or data that 

materially affects the information included in the Replacement

Prospectus. All material assumptions and technical parameters disclosed 

in the Replacement Prospectus that underpin the estimates continue to 

apply and have not materially changed.

Forward looking statements

PYX Resources | Annual Report 2020

3     PYX Resources | Annual Report 2020



Operating a mine that has been in production since 
2015, PYX Resources is a leading global producer of 
premium zircon listed on the National Stock Exchange 
of Australia (ticker NSX: PYX).

The flagship tenement, Mandiri, is located in the alluvium-rich region of 
Central Kalimantan, Indonesia.

Boasting the world’s 5th largest producing deposit of zircon (6.0 Mt of 
inferred resources), PYX Resources controls a large-scale deposit with 
exploration to date validating the presence of additional Valuable Heavy 
Minerals such as rutile, ilmenite among others within its mineral sands.

Determined to mine responsibly and invest in the wider communities 
where we operate, PYX Resources is committed to fully developing 
Mandiri, with the vision to explore and acquire mineral sands assets in 
Asia and beyond.

About PYX Resources
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Marketing

Mineral sands process

Zircon is a major product of the Mineral 
Sands industry and has been used as a 

gemstone for over 2,000 years. Today, it is 
widely used to manufacture cubic zirconia, 
fiber optic components, refractory coatings, 

ceramics, dentures and other dental 
products.

Zircon also serves as the primary ore 
of zirconium metal. PYX transports 

its final product of Zircon to 
customers in Europe and 

Asia.

Geological 
Analysis

Mineral Sands are a group of minerals 
commonly found and mined together 
from water or wind alluvial deposits.

The principal Valuable Minerals 
include zircon (ZrSiO4), rutile 

(TiO2), ilmenite (Fe. TiO3), 
leucoxene (FeTiO3, TiO2) and 

monazite (Ce, La, Th).

Mining and 
Concentration

Around 97% of zircon in the world is 
obtained from Heavy Mineral Sands 
through a process which involves 

mining and wet concentration. The 
end result of this phase is referred 
to as Heavy Mineral Concentrate.

Heavy-Mineral 
Separation

The Heavy Mineral Concentrate is 
stockpiled and drained before 

being transferred to a secondary 
concentration process or mineral 
separation plant. Residual sand is 
pumped into the mining pit, while 

process water from cyclone 
stackers and the solar 

evaporation dam is recycled.

Mine 
Rehabilitation

Mine rehabilitation is part of responsible 
mining. Through rehabilitation, the 

mining pit will be recovered to
a condition similar to its pre- 

mining stage to ensure mining’s 
compatibility with future land 

uses such as farming.

PYX Resources | Annual Report 2020
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Highlights

5,702 tons
Sales volume

38.7%
Sales volume y/y increase

US$7,816k
Revenue

169%
Revenue y/y increase

5,550 tons
Production volume

33.8%
Production volume y/y 
increase

11 days
Inventory

US$4,209k
Cash position

78.8%
Increase in share price (as 
of COB 4 September 2020)

Zero
Reported Covid-19 
cases

Zero 
Total recordable injury 
frequency rate of zero
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Welcome to the June 2020 Annual Report 
for PYX Resources. This was a momentous 
year for PYX Resources, with the IPO on 
the National Stock Exchange of Australia 
completed on February 25th, a strong 
post-IPO share price performance from 
AU$ 0.40 to AU$ 0.575 (30 June 2020) 
during the period and the appointment of 
new Directors. Mandiri Operations have 
expanded in terms of production capacity 
and personnel, with a substantial increase 
in zircon volumes produced and sold.

PYX Resources’ management team is committed 
to developing our company into one of the 
most prominent zircon producers globally, 
leveraging on our world-class Mandiri Tenement 
in Central Kalimantan, which boasts a mineral 
sands assemblage with the world’s highest 
zircon content (64%) and enabling us to fulfil our 
unwavering commitment to deliver sustainable 
value to all our stakeholders, empower local 
communities and safeguard the environment, 
while supporting diversity.

The first half of the financial year (Q3 and Q4 
2019) enjoyed favourable market conditions, 
with rising zircon prices at the end of 2019. In 
the second half of the financial year (Q1 and Q2 
2020) business sentiment softened, for the most 

Chairman’s letter

Dear Shareholders, 

part as a result of the ongoing US-China
trade war and COVID-19 pandemic, which has 
profoundly impacted the global economy. Zircon 
sales have been impacted by factory shutdowns 
in China and reduced demand from zircon 
consumers located in Europe.

PYX Resources | Annual Report 2020
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We responded by initiating a range of 
precautionary and scalable measures to adapt 
to these conditions. Our teams have worked 
closely with our contractors, customers and 
suppliers in order to align our operating 
model and to effectively mitigate against 
the impact of these external demand shocks 
across our operations. We are pleased to 
report that there have been no cases of 
COVID-19 at our operations or offices. We 
have a solid order book, a positive outlook 
for customer demand and a factory operating 
at increasing capacity utilization rates. Our 
zircon business remains well positioned, with 
sales into the ceramics industry (opacifier
in glazes and frits, flour), specialty castings 
(foundry applications), refractories (refractory 
bricks, furnace linings, abrasives) and 
specialty markets (fused zirconia).

We are pleased to announce that our financial 
position has remained very favorable, with 
strong cash reserves and a strong balance 
sheet. We closed the year with a cash 
position of US$4.209 million, and as of today, 
we are debt free. Despite the prospect of 
acute and prolonged market volatility, PYX 
Resources has solid fundamentals and will 
continue focusing on its mission to deliver 
sustainable value.

Over the past year, our Mandiri Operations 
experienced robust growth. During the year,
we produced 5,550 tons of high-grade zircon, 
up 33.8% from the previous reporting period 
and sold 5,702 tons of zircon, up 38.7% 
from the previous reporting period, and 
represented the highest sales volumes in the 
history of Mandiri. 

Going forward, our increased production 
capacity will ensure that we are well 
positioned to capitalize on favorable zircon 
market dynamics, expecting a persistent 
demand/supply imbalance to support the 
zircon price in the medium term.

Our top-line growth was achieved amid a 
strong focus on safety and the continued 
support of our employees and contractors.

Safety remains our paramount priority with 
PYX Resources not having any work-related 
injuries since January 24th of this year, the 
date when current management took over the 
mining business.

In June 2020, PYX Resources received 
notification from the Central Kalimantan 
Provincial Government that after approval 
from the Energy and Mineral Resources 
Department of Central Kalimantan, the 
Company’s application for the extension of 
the Production Operation Mining Activities 
IUP license has been granted for the 
maximum authorized period of 5 years, after 
which the license can be renewed for
additional periods of 5 years each. The 
Production and Operation IUP license allows 
PYX to carry out production operations 
including construction, mining, processing and 
refining, transportation and sales activities. 
This is a major milestone for the company and 
a validation of our strong relationship with 
the local government and communities.

The progress made over the past year has 
been unquestionably substantial. Over 
the course of the next 12 months, we will 
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continue to remain vigilant by paying close 
attention to the rapidly changing landscape, 
namely the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic 
and the global slowdown. Furthermore, we 
will continue to comply with the measures 
mandated by the national and provincial 
governments in Indonesia, while continuing 
to serve our global customer base and meet 
their demands. PYX’s top priorities will 
continue to be the undertaking of safe, high-
impact, responsible, value creating activities, 
while adhering to a prudent capex investment 
strategy.

Since our NSX listing on February 25th, at a 
price of AU$0.40, we have enjoyed strong 
post-IPO price performance, outperforming 
the ASX Metals & Mining index and most 
mineral sands peers.

Going forward, we will also endeavor to 
complement the current PYX resource base
by identifying, acquiring and developing 
undervalued, world-class mineral assets 
strategically located in countries participating 
in China’s Belt and Road initiative, possessing 
significant resources, long mine life and 
among the highest zircon assemblage in the 
world.

With these extraordinary results in mind, on 
behalf of the Board, I would like to express 
our heartfelt gratitude to our professional 
staff and management team for their hard 
work during the past year, and to the local 
communities and governments for their 
support and commitment. Furthermore, we 
would like to extend great appreciation to our 
customers for all their trust and cooperation.

I would also like to thank our shareholders 
and stakeholders who continue to provide us 
with great support through this journey. We 
truly believe that our continued commitment 
to building a leading global mineral sands 
company will generate long-term value to all.

Oliver B. Hasler
Chairman
Dated: 11 September 2020 

PYX Resources | Annual Report 2020
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Year in review

(US$) FY2020 FY2019

Sales revenue $7,816,397 $2,903,161

EBITDA $(10,874,708) $349,895

EBIT $(10,968,451) $317,839

Net loss before tax $(11,044,165) $317,994

Net loss after tax (NLAT) $(10,885,894) $233,730

Underlying EBITDA $(860,927) $349,895

Total assets $6,814,532 $1,896,622

Total liabilities $(406,203) $(899,851)

Sales volume of Zircon

Production volume of Zircon

Financial summary

FY2020 FY20 vs FY19

5,550t 34%

FY2020 FY20 vs FY19

5,702t 39%

1. The Group commenced its activitiy on 28 June 2018, with the incorporation of Takmur Pte Ltd. 

2. Control and accounting consolidation of PT Investasi Mandiri, the holder of the Mandiri Tenement, commenced 24 January 2019.
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Management 
discussion and 
analysis



Australian-based, NSX-listed PYX Resources operates the Mandiri 
Tenement in Indonesia, which has been in production since August 
2015. The Mandiri Mine is located in the alluvium-rich region of Central 
Kalimantan, 20 km away from the nearest township of Kuala Kurun, and 
170 km north of the provincial capital city, Palangkaraya. 

Strategy and business 
model

Achieving Full Potential of our 
Mineral Sands Resources 
 
PYX Resources is determined to drive 
shareholder value through increasing asset 
valuations and production of premium zircon. 
We are committed to comprehensively 
exploring the Mandiri Tenement in order 
to define and mine Valuable Heavy Mineral 
resources such as zircon, rutile and ilmenite 
among others.

Our management team is highly dedicated 
to continuing and undertaking metallurgical 
analysis and testing, with a focus on the 
current mining area on the north east of the 
tenement and dramatically decrease our 
mining costs through the scaling-up of Mining 
Field Units.

Furthermore, we continue to upgrade and 
expand our processing facilities in order to 
increase our zircon and by-product production 
capacity. Over the last 6 months we have
 

increased the capacity of our separation plant 
from 12kt to 18kt of zircon per year. We have 
achieved this through the installation of an 
additional (third) dryer line and a notable 
increase in productivity.

Additionally, apart from the current mining 
area, which is already in production with 
substantial defined inferred mineral resources 
of 126 million tonnes and 6.0 million tonnes 
of contained zircon, there are substantial 
exploration targets to be converted into 
resources within the Mandiri Tenement.
These are located to the northwest of the 
current resource estimation area and in the 
deeper layers below the water table.
These developments will provide further 
opportunities and upside to PYX for growth 
enhancement.

Finally, we endeavor to complement the 
current PYX resource base by identifying, 
acquiring and developing undervalued, world-
class mineral assets, particularly focusing on 
Central Kalimantan resource-rich tenements.

PYX Resources | Annual Report 2020
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Key Focus on our Premium Zircon 
Business 

Zircon is a mineral which belongs to the 
group of nesosilicates. Zircon is a chemical 
compound called zirconium silicate, existing 
in colours ranging between colourless, yellow-
golden, red, brown, blue and green. Zircon 
theoretically consists of 67% zirconia, 32% 
silica, and typically a small percentage of 
hafnium. After the mining and production 
of Heavy Mineral Concentrate, zircon is 
separated, beneficiated and commercialized 
as zircon sand (zircon). The uses of zircon vary 
widely from flour form to introduce zirconium 
to frits compositions and ceramic body 

compositions to its use in the production 
of zirconium chemical compounds such as 
zirconia or zirconium metal.

Zircon and its derivatives (zirconia and 
zirconium) have a vast array of applications. 
By far the largest end-use sector of zircon is 
the ceramics industry accounting for around 
55% of all zircon used. Within the ceramics 
sector, zircon is mainly used as a raw material 
in the production of ceramic bodies, glazes, 
enamels, frits and pigments applied to 
traditional ceramics, including wall and floor 
ceramic tiles, porcelain tiles, sanitaryware, 
bathroom basins, dinnerware and industrial 

Our Plan

Extension of 
Drilling Target 

Area

Sales of 
By-product 

Rutile

Sales of 
By-product 

Ilmenite

Enhanced 
Profitability 

Through 
Production 
Ramp Up

Add-on Mine 
Acquisitions 
in the Area

Addtional 
Resources 

Below Water 
Table
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tiles. Zircon is in high demand by the 
ceramics industry due to the fact that it is 
used as a whiteness and opacity enhancer.

As a raw material in ceramic glazes, 
increasing the zircon content enhances the 
resistance to corrosion and chemical attack. 
In advanced ceramic applications, such as the 
production of biocompatible ceramics, zircon 
is used as a raw material for the production 
of fused and chemically derived zirconia.

 
Other important uses of zircon include 
those in the foundry industry as a form 
of sand and milled sand for casing and 
refractory application. Among the reasons 
that zircon is highly suited for this purpose 
include: cleanliness and roundness of 
grains which allow the material to easily 
bond together, a low thermal expansion 
coefficient and chemical stability at 
high temperatures. Furthermore, zircon’s 
dielectric and piezoelectric properties make 
it highly suitable for use in the production 
of special electro-ceramics in aerospace, 
telecommunications and automotive sectors 
among others. Zircon is most commonly
found in lead zirconate titanate (PZT) electro- 
ceramics used in a wide range of products 
such as microphones, microwave dielectrics 
and radio frequency power capacitors.

Zircon has wide-ranging applications, making 
it highly present in the home, both with 
regards to construction and design, as well as 
home appliances. Moreover, zircon is also a 
key raw material in the field of medicine, fuel
cells and industrial manufacturing processes. 

The following page highlights the diversity of 
zircon’s applications.

Zircon’s increased usage and rising scarcity – 
especially for high-grade zircon – has led to a 
robust pricing environment: particularly since 
existing reserves are being depleted, while 
few large deposits have entered the market 
over the last two decades. Zircon demand 
has been increasing rapidly since the year 
2000, largely due to the growth in demand 
from China for Zircon Sand. In recent years, 
increasing use of zircon by chemical and 
foundry producers has led to an increasing 
market share from ceramic manufacturers, 
with regards to global zircon consumption.

PYX Resources | Annual Report 2020
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Ceramics
The most important market for zircon is the 
ceramics industry. Within this sector, zircon is 
mostly employed as a raw material in the
production of ceramic bodies, glazes, enamels, 
frits and pigments applied to traditional 
ceramics, which includes wall and floor 
ceramic tiles, porcelain tiles, sanitaryware, 
washbasins, tableware, special porcelains and 
industrial tiles, among others.

Refractories
Refractories are materials that are designed 
to maintain strength, dimensional stability 
and chemical resistance at high temperature. 
These are typically made from alumina, 
magnesia, clays, binders and zircon or 
zirconia.

Foundry Sands and Coatings
Zircon is widely used in the foundry industry, 
mostly in the form of sand and flour (milled 
sand) for casting the refractory applications.

Advance Ceramics
The term ‘advanced ceramics’ refers to 
ceramic materials that have been specially 
designed to improve those characteristics and 
overcome the issues arising from traditional 
ceramic’s poor mechanical properties.

Examples are grinding wheels, sharpening 
stones, pump seals, thermal insulators, and 
cutting tools.

Electro-Ceramics
Microwave dielectrics, radio frequency power 
capacitors, AC/DC high voltage capacitors, 
general high voltage capacitors, microphones, 
phonograph crystals, ultrasonic transducers, 
medical high intensity focused ultrasound, 
medical imaging, ultrasonic toothbrushes, 
jewellery cleaners, mobile phone cameras, 
nano positioning stages for scientific use.

Healthcare/Biotechnology
Oxygen sensors. dental parts, medical 
implants and biocompatible devices, drug 
delivery, bioimaging.

Bathroom/Kitchenware/Lifestyle
Ceramic sanitary, glass, faucets for taps, light 
bulbs, dishes, glasses, clock parts, knives, 
pans, toothpaste, cosmetics, sunscreens, 
jewellery, optics, gold clubs, bicycle frames.

Fuel Cells and Batteries
Proton exchange membranes, hydrogen 
storage, solid oxide fuel cells and Li-ion 
batteries.

Advanced Coatings/Functional Materials
Exterior and interior paint, anti-pollution 
coatings, nanomaterials, nanorods, 
nanostructures, nanofabrication

Sensoring
High temperature and pressure sensor, gas 
sensor, relative humidity sensor, biosensing, 
DNA and proteins sensing in food and drink.

Uses of zircon
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Unique Logistics Advantage 

A key effective cost advantage is the fact 
that only a few low-cost investments in 
logistics are required. The city of Palankaraya 
in Kalimantan is located only 1-hour and 
20-minutes away from Jakarta by plane. The 
modern Tjilik Riwut Airport in Palankaraya 
is well-connected to all major cities in 
Indonesia, with many flights throughout the 
day to Indonesia’s capital. 

Our Mineral Separation Unit is conveniently 
located 100 km from Palankaraya, connected 
by a well maintained, paved national highway. 
Our factory is in the process of being 
connected to the electrical grid. This will 
create significant benefits to our operations, 
allowing for the reduction of energy costs 
by replacing our diesel fueled generators 
with public electric power.  Our Mandiri 
Tenement is closely located to the factory, 
with the outer working area of the tenement 
located near the district road which connects 
the village of Kereng Pangi to the national 
highway. A private airport is close to our 
tenement, which in the future can be used to 
access the mine and factory more directly via 
national or international charter flights.

The existing tenement infrastructure 
adequately accommodates PYX’s operations, 
with a well-maintained asphalt-sealed road, 
an earth-based inland road and a series 
of narrow tracks extending through the 
tenement. Our mine enjoys direct access to 
the Kahayan river or Great Dyak, which is the 
largest river in Central Kalimantan. The river 
is navigable year-round and has a history 
of being used as a means of transport in 
the mining industry. The use of the river will 
provide for significant transportation cost 

reduction in the delivery of Heavy Mineral 
Concentrates from our tenement to the 
factory.

The ports of Sampit and Banjarmasin are 
connected to our factory by a paved national 
highway. These major ports have years of 
experience in the exports of commodities to 
major global trading hubs. The ports notably 
export large quantities of coal, timber, palm 
oil and iron ore to support the operations of 
the major local industries. The ports have 
successfully grown their capacity in order to 
meet the increasing year-on-year volume of 
exports from the region. We are confident 
that these ports will be able to sustain the 
delivery of our growing production to our 
international customer base in years to come.

The aforementioned existing infrastructure 
requires only low-cost investment to adapt 
it to the needs of our growing operations. 
The quality of our infrastructure gives us 
confidence that as production grows, we will 
continue to execute a timely and efficient 
delivery among our mining site, plant and 
ports.

PYX Resources | Annual Report 2020
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Increasing our Mining Capacity 

Mining is undertaken in an in-pit wet pre- 
concentrator, which is currently undergoing     
an increase in capacity. After detailed 
analysis of the engineering studies carried 
out by Perth- based MSP Engineering Pty Ltd. 
on our fleet and mining equipment, we intend 
to develop a wet concentration plant, which 
will allow for an increase in production. Our 
aim is for the processing plant to be based on 
vendor-provided skids that will be relocatable 
across the mining area over time, with the 
necessary infrastructure established.

In order to achieve the next-stage of 
expansion in PYX’s world-class mineral 
sands deposit, we have hired Jakarta-based, 
well- established and renowned engineering 
consulting company, Resindo Resources 
and Energy. The company will aid us in the 
acquisition of a Mine Field Units in order to 
expand our production.

Moreover, the scope of work of Resindo 
Resources and Energy as consultants 
includes, but is not confined to all engineering 
aspects, cost control, procurement and 
logistics work.
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Upgrading our Processing Facility 
 
The existing Mandiri Mineral Separation 
Unit consists of a conventional wet 
concentration process (Wilfley tabling) 
followed by the batch dry mineral 
separation processing (electrostatic rolls, 
electrostatic plates and magnetic rolls).

The Mandiri processing plant undertakes 
the following separation process:

Firstly, Heavy Mineral (HM) feed 
material is passed over gravity shaking 
tables in order to increase the zircon 
concentrate. After passing through the 
gravity shaking tables, the concentrate 
is passed through an Electrostatic 
Separation Unit that separates metallic 
from non-metallic or non-conductive 
minerals. Finally, the zircon concentrates 
pass through an Electromagnetic 
Separation Unit, leading to a zircon 
product of great purity being produced. 
The final product has a high zircon 
content ranging between 66%-68%.

Mandiri is currently in operation with an 
installed production capacity of 1,500 
tpm (or 18,000 tpa) of zircon product 
and has produced more than 12,000 
tonnes of zircon product to-date. The 
primary product of the Mandiri project 
is 65.5-grade Zircon (premium grade for 
exports). Other potential by-products 
include rutile, and ilmenite, among 
others.
 

Mining operations

Transport to plant

Gravity Shaking Table

Dryers

Cooling store

Electrostatic separation

Non-conductor Zircon Rutile / Ilmenite

Electro-magnetic separation Electro-magnetic separation

Premium Zircon High grade Ilmenite / Rutile
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Our zircon sales volume increased from 4,110 tons to 5,702 tons in the 
reporting financial period, an annual increase of 38.7%. The volume 
increase was the result of our constant focus on new client acquisition, and 
enhanced geographical and end-market diversification while pursuing our 
growth strategy.

Operating and financial 
review

  

Mineral Separation Plant (MSP) Performance

Year Ended 
30 June 2020

Year Ended 
30 June 2019

Year Ended 
31 December 2019

Year Ended 
31 December 2018

Zircon Production (tonnes) 5,550 4,148 4,966 3,353

Sales Volume

Year Ended 
30 June 2020

Year Ended 
30 June 2019

Year Ended 
31 December 2019

Year Ended 
31 December 2018

Zircon Sales (tonnes) 5,702 4,110 4,936 3,296

PYX’s current customer base is comprised of a 
diverse group of global blue-chip customers, 
operating in various industries and geographies. 
This diversified customer mix provides PYX 
with protection from any concentration risk, 
thus mitigating against any crisis impacting a 
certain geography or industry. The company has 
developed strong, long-term relationships with 
key customers. Crucially, PYX has continued to

 grow its market presence in China, the world’s 
largest zircon consumption market. The robust 
growth observed in the zircon market has meant 
that sales continue to closely match production, 
allowing for minimal levels of inventory, with an 
actual period of 11 days of inventory at the 
end of the period. 
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In particular, the share of the top-3 customers 
by sales volume decreased from 78.6% to 
70.2% during the period.

Our Zircon production increased substantially 
from 4,148 tons to 5,550 tons, an increase
of 33.8% yearly, as a result of higher feed of 
heavy mineral concentrate, and our upsized 
processing capacity during the reporting 
period.

The capacity in the Mineral Separation Plant 
(MSP) increased from 12kt to 18kt per annum 
as a result of the implementation of the 
investment programme and the installation 
of a third dryer unit. The strong sales and 
production growth have been achieved on 
the backdrop of a 2.1% reduction in Full 
Time Equivalent (FTE) personnel owing 
to a significant improvement in overall 
productivity.

For the Full Year ending on 30 June 2020 
(FY2020), PYX Resources reported an 
increase in sales revenue of 169% compared 
to the same period in the previous year. The 
Company reported a net loss after tax of 
US$10,886k for the reporting period 

compared to a net profit of US$234k in the 
previous year. The EBITDA for the period was 
negative US$10,875k, with an Underlying 
negative EBITDA of US$861k.

(US$) FY2020 FY2019

Sales revenue $7,816,397 $2,903,161

Cash cost of production $(6,462,179) $2,190,376

Other income $98,254 $39,200

Selling and distribution expenses $(153,741) $(119,190)

Corporate and other expenses 1 $(4,792,728) $(282,900)

Foreign exchange gain/(loss) $(228,195) -

Non-capitalized RTO and listing expenses $(1,795,519) -

Acquisition loss $(5,356,997) -

EBITDA $(10,874,708) $349,895

Depreciation and amotisation $(93,743) $(32,056)

EBIT $(10,968,451) $317,839

Net financial income/(expenses) $(75,714) $155

Net profit before tax $(11,044,165) $317,994

Income tax $158,271 $(84,264)

Net profit after tax (NPAT) $(10,885,894) $233,730

Other comprehensive income/expense $39,585 -

Income Statement

Income Statement Analysis

1. Excluding depreciation and amortisation
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(US$) FY2020 FY2019

EBITDA $(10,874,708) $349,895

Non-recurring items 2 $(10,013,781) -

Underlying EBITDA $(860,927) $349,895

Underlying EBITDA

2. Non-recurring items are expenses that do not fall within the normal course of business and/or are not costs that occur every year

The comparison between FY2020 and FY2019 is impacted by the fact that in FY2019 only 5 
months and 7 days of operating activity are accounted for in our accounting records.

Takmur Pte (the Group holding company based on the principles of Reverse Acquisition 
Accounting) did not control any operational assets prior to 24 January 2019, the date 
in which Takmur Pte obtained control of PT Investasi Mandiri, the holder of the mining 
concession related to the mineral sands deposit of the Mandiri Tenement. Therefore, 
revenues and expenses of PT Investasi Mandiri are only accounted for commencing 24 
January 2019, the consolidation start date.

Zircon Revenue 

Revenues from sales of zircon for the reporting period was US$7,816 k, an increase of 169% 
due to the reduced accounting period in FY2019, and the growth in annualized sales volume, 
partly offset by lower realized prices. Average pricing for the period was only 1.5% lower 
than the prior period, despite the US-China trade conflicts and the impact of the COVID-19 
crisis, showing the strength of the mineral sands market and in particular the zircon market, 
with zircon prices reaching a historic high during the fourth quarter of 2019.

Demand remained strong during the first half of 2020 with PYX’s order book reaching the 
highest levels since production started in 2015. Despite the global economic turbulence 
caused by the COVID-19 pandemic, prices in 2020 have remained largely in line with the 
average 2019 pricing, with merely some minor downward adjustments. This is the result of 
zircon supply being concentrated on a few suppliers, which generally translates into strong 
pricing discipline. This feature is expected to persist in view of the expected depletion of 
existing deposits combined with a continuous increase in zircon demand. The anticipated 
structural supply deficit is forecast to provide strong fundamental support to zircon prices in 
the medium to long term.
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Underlying EBITDA 

PYX’s underlying EBITDA for the period was negative US$861k. The modestly negative operating 
cash flow is the result of tight control on general and administrative expenses during the Initial 
Public Offering (IPO) preparation phase and subsequent to the start of trading on the NSX. This is a 
significant achievement, considering the expanded corporate structure compared with FY2019 and 
the deteriorating operating environment, in the midst of heightened geopolitical and trade tensions 
and the economic impact of the COVID-19 pandemic. The main non-recurring items in the period 
were non-capitalized listing expenses of US$1,796k, RTO transaction loss of US$5,357k (accounting 
for the transaction loss on consolidation of Pyx Resources Ltd.) and accrual of management’s share-
based payments of US$2,520k.

Net Profit (Loss) After Tax 

PYX’s net loss after tax for the period was US$10,886k, mainly due to expenses for listing, RTO 
transaction loss as well as management’s share-based incentives.

Cash and Cash Equivalents 

PYX’s cash and cash equivalent balance at the end of the FY2020 period was US$4,209k, up from 
US$211k in the previous period. The increase was attributed to the addition of IPO funding reduced 
by listing and RTO costs as well as the capital expenditure required to bring the installed capacity 
up to 18kt per annum, partially offset by the insignificant negative operational cash flow.
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Over the past 12 months, we have achieved significant growth in our 
order book. This is particularly encouraging against the backdrop of the 
COVID-19 pandemic and its effects on the global economy and financial 
markets. The excellent relationships forged by the management with our 
customers are the main driver for the strong sales performance over the 
reporting period.

Market outlook

Our high-grade zircon is sold throughout 
Asia and Europe for all sorts of technological 
applications, spanning from home applications 
to the fields of medical, industrial and many 
others. A major use of the zircon we produce is 

in the ceramics industry. Our zircon with such 
purity and whiteness means that it is highly 
sought after by manufacturers in this field. 
It has also been proven to be ideal for fused 
zirconia applications. 
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Strong Pricing Environment for Premium 
Zircon
 
The mainstay of the mineral sands industry is 
zircon, which is the mineral sand component 
with the highest commercial value. In most 
projects – including Mandiri– both zircon and 
titanium minerals can be found within the same 
deposits.

2019 showed the strength of the mineral sands 
market and in particular the zircon market, with 
zircon prices reaching a historic high during the 

fourth quarter of the year. Demand remained
strong during the first half of 2020, with our 
order book reaching the highest levels since 
production started in 2015 and exceeding 
our maximum operation capacity. Even with 
the global economic fallout caused by the 
COVID-19 outbreak, prices in 2020 have 
so far been roughly in line with the 2019 
average pricing. The reasons are: (i) zircon is 
a concentrated industry with a few suppliers 
accounting for a large share of the supply base 
(ii) expectations that a structural supply deficit 
would persist, buoying zircon prices.
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Sustainability 

We strongly believe that our business can be a catalyst for change. 
Inspired by the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) set forth by the 
United Nations Development Program, we have introduced “PYX Cares” 
as our blueprint for making a meaningful difference to the communities in 
which we operate and achieving sustainable goals.

The “PYX Cares” sustainability programme 
is designed to ensure that we deliver 
sustainable value to all our stakeholders. 
We understand the importance of building 
a mutually beneficial relationship with our 
local communities in order to meet our goals. 
Our holistic approach to sustainability looks 
to encompass the empowerment of local 
communities, protect the environment and 
foster diversity in order to ensure that both 
our employees and the people of Kalimantan 
fully participate and benefit from our long-term 
success story.

We expect all our partners to adhere to 
the highest standards of sustainability, as 
we strive to strike a balance among our 
commitment to sustainability, the needs of our 
people and our business obligations across all 
our activities.

Employees
Safety
We recognize that our people are our most 
valuable assets. Hence, the health, safety and 
wellbeing of our employees and contractors 
are paramount. We are committed to 
identifying, mitigating, and whenever possible, 
eliminating the risk factors associated 
with our activities. Health and safety are 
responsibilities shared by everyone throughout 
the organisation, and we strive to nurture a 
safety-first culture across all our 
operations.

When confronted with the COVID-19 crisis, we 
moved quickly, taking great care of the welfare 
of our staff, contractors, and the communities 
we work with to ensure early preventive 
measures were put in place, and adjusted 
the Company’s operating model to deal with 
the new circumstances. Following the World 
Health Organization (WHO) guidelines, PYX 
provided infectious disease education,
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alongside the implementation 
of preventive measures 
and protocols across the 
Company.

PYX Resources has always 
made employee health and 
safety a top priority, and 
we have taken extensive 
precautions in response to 
the COVID-19 pandemic, 
including: international 
and domestic travel 
restrictions, work-from-
home arrangements and 
supplemental health care 
– with a particular focus 
on our Kalimantan-based 
staff. The Company has 
deployed additional resources 
to promote workplace 
respiratory hygiene, 
temperature checks and 
continuous communication in 
order to detect any possible 
symptoms immediately.

As a result of our actions, we 
are pleased to report that 
there have been no cases of 
COVID-19 at our operation or 
offices. While we are pleased 
with how the situation has 
been handled thus far, we 
continue to remain vigilant by 
paying close attention to the 
rapidly-changing landscapes 
we face, and complying with 
the measures mandated by 
the national and provincial 
governments.
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We are proud to announce that our success 
over the past year was delivered with a high 
level of commitment to the safety of our team 
and community. Over the reporting period 
there were no injuries which required medical 
treatment. PYX has had a recordable injury 
frequency rate of zero with no lost time due to 
injury since January 2019.

Local employment and skills transfer 
In PYX’s talent acquisition activities, 
the recruitment of local people is highly 
emphasised in order to maximise the
employment opportunities and project benefits 
for local communities. We are committed to 

helping our employees make the most of their 
potential. We strive to train our employees
 
comprehensively and professionally, so they 
have the knowledge, skills and mentality
to see beyond their daily tasks and help us 
improve our operations.

As part of our PYX Cares initiative, we aim to 
deliver long-term benefits to the communities 
in which we operate. Through livelihood 
programmes as well as a strong emphasis on 
education, these initiatives look to render a 
tangible benefit to our community.
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Community 

We understand our responsibility as a 
company extends to the communities in which 
we operate. PYX Resources is dedicated to 
working with local communities in Kalimantan 
to learn about their needs, in order to make 
meaningful investment which will ensure that 
we leave a lasting legacy to the region and its 
people.
 
We look to foster significant personal growth 
in our communities through our education 
programs. Moreover, we are fully committed to 
increasing the diversity in our workforce and 
will continue to foster the favourable working 
environment that has ensured high levels of 
gender equality in the workforce.

Furthermore, we look to provide learning 
and skills transfer opportunities for our 
communities. We provide extensive on-the-job 
training for our employees, as well as providing 
various internships for university students and 
pathways into management for our workers.

PYX Resources | Annual Report 2020

29     PYX Resources | Annual Report 2020



Environment

We strongly value the rich biodiversity of 
the areas in the areas in which we operate. 
Thus, we adhere to stringent environmental 
standards and practices, while striving to go 
beyond compliance to local and international 
regulations.

We have introduced an Environmental 
Management Plan (EMP) to monitor how we 
manage and mitigate Mandiri’s
environmental impact while also ensuring that 
all our employees receive formal training in 
environmental monitoring, reporting and

 compliance. Moreover, we have set high 
benchmarks with regards to restoring land 
to the state it was in prior to our operations. 
We are committed to the re-filling of mining 
pits and planting of native vegetation to 
ensure that the environmental impact of our 
operations is minimised.

Our senior management is mandated to report 
regularly to the Board on environmental and 
social matters. We are also conscious of
the need to preserve and foster the planet’s 
biodiversity.
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Resources and reserves
Mining License

PTIM was granted mining permit Izin Usaha Pertambangan-Operasi Produksi (IUP-OP) for a total 
area of 2,032 ha, by Bupati Gunung Mas, No. 16/DPE/IX/2010, on 2nd September 2010. On 29 
June 2020 the Company announced that it has received notification from the Central Kalimantan 
Provincial Government that after approval from the Energy and Mineral Resources Department 
of Central Kalimantan, the Company’s application for the extension of the Production Operation 
Mining Activities IUP license has been granted for the maximum authorized period of 5 years, 
after which the license can be renewed for additional periods of 5 years. The Production and 
Operation IUP license allows PT Investasi Mandiri to carry out production operations including 
construction, mining, processing and refining, transportation and sales activities.

The terms of the renewed permit, including payment of Indonesian taxes and the honouring of 
other financial obligations of PYX’s subsidiary PT Investasi Mandiri, are set out in the IUP-OP. A 
summary of some of the key provisions is provided below:

• Dead rent is payable to the Government of Indonesia at a rate of US$4 per hectare per annum;
• Royalty on Heavy Mineral Sands produced is 1.5%;
• Corporate tax of 22% is payable and set by the Government of Indonesia;
• Land and building taxes payable to the local government are applicable, at a rate of 
 US$0.53 per hectare; and
• Environmental obligations, including reclamation bonding and plans, approved by the local 
 government as part of the mine approval process.
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Resource Tables

Mineral Resources for the Mandiri Heavy Mineral Deposit within mining permit Izin Usaha 
Pertambangan-Operasi Produksi are set out in Table 1. The resources are reported at a lower block 
cut-off grade of 2% HM. As the mineral assemblage for the Mandiri Tenement is well established, 
the Valuable Heavy Mineral (VHM) content represents approximately 86% of the HM content in the 
Mineral Resource estimate.

Area Category Tonnage  
(Mt)

HM   
(%)

Slimes   
(%)

Oversize  
(%)

Mandiri Inferred 126 7 9 16

Table 1: Mineral Resources above 2% HM lower block cut-off grade at 25 February 2020

The Inferred Mineral Resources for the Mandiri HMS deposit are defined as 126 Mt containing 
7.4% HM including 9% slimes and 16% oversize at a lower cut-off grade of 2%.

The mineral assemblage of the product from the Mandiri project is well established based on 
production records from the PTIM processing plant and confirmed by the certified laboratory 
analyses required by legislation for export product.

Component Zircon Ilmenite Rutile Other Waste + H2O Total

Relative % 68% 9.5% 8.5% 1% 13% 100%

Contained mineral 6.0 Mt 0.8 Mt 0.8 Mt 0.1 Mt 1.2 Mt 8.8 Mt

Table 2: Mineral assemblage and contained tonnes of the components at 25 February 2020

Based on the data available, the tonnage of contained zircon, ilmenite and rutile which together 
comprise the VHM is 7.59 Mt.

During the period 1 December 2019 to 30 June 2020 a total of 3,150 t of zircon grade 65.5 was 
produced from different parts of the Tenement. This small quantity of mineral is considered 
to be not material in terms of the total zircon resources and the Inferred Mineral Resource 
classification of the resource and consequently has not been depleted from the total Mineral 
Resource inventory.
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Resources are given in below at various lower block cut-off grades of contained HM.

Category
Cut-off 
Grade
(% HM)

Cumul. 
Tonnage

(Mt)

HM
 (%)

Slimes
 (%)

Oversize
 (%)

Inferred 8 43.3 8.47 9.23 16.42

7 88.4 7.99 9.18 16.19

6 112.2 7.70 9.10 16.18

5 125.0 7.53 9.01 16.25

4 126.1 7.48 8.99 16.20

3 126.1 7.44 8.99 16.16

2 126.3 7.43 8.98 16.14

Table 3: Inferred Resources by lower block cut-off grade (unrounded)

There is only minor material consisting of less than 2% HM.

Ore Reserves 

At present there are no ore reserves for the Mandiri Project.
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Remuneration report – audited 
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1. 3,250,000        3,250,000               31/3/2020 Employment of Oliver Hasler to 31 March 2020

2. 1,936,568        30/6/2020 2019 Target Sales Volume
387,314                  Continuous employment to 31 December 2019
580,970                  Continuous employment and more than 20% - 30% of 2019 Target Sales Volume
774,627                  Continuous employment and more than 30% - 40% of 2019 Target Sales Volume
968,284                  Continuous employment and more than 40% - 75% of 2019 Target Sales Volume

968,284-2,904,852 Continuous employment and more than 75% - 125% of 2019 Target Sales Volume (pro-rata)
2,904,852               Continuous employment and more than 125% of 2019 Target Sales Volume

3. 978,261           30/6/2021 2020 Target EBITDA
195,652                  Continuous employment to 31 December 2020
293,478                  Continuous employment and more than 20% - 30% of 2020 Target EBITDA
391,304                  Continuous employment and more than 30% - 40% of 2020 Target EBITDA
489,131                  Continuous employment and more than 40% - 75% of 2020 Target EBITDA

489,131-1,467,392 Continuous employment and more than 75% - 125% of 2020 Target EBITDA (pro-rata)
1,467,392               Continuous employment and more than 125% of 2020 Target EBITDA

4. 1,278,866        30/6/2021 2020 Target Sales Volume
255,773                  Continuous employment to 31 December 2020
383,660                  Continuous employment and more than 20% - 30% of 2020 Target Sales Volume
511,546                  Continuous employment and more than 30% - 40% of 2020 Target Sales Volume
639,433                  Continuous employment and more than 40% - 75% of 2020 Target Sales Volume

639,433-1,918,299 Continuous employment and more than 75% - 125% of 2020 Target Sales Volume (pro-rata)
1,918,299               Continuous employment and more than 125% of 2020 Target Sales Volume

5. 1,141,304        30/6/2022 2021 Target EBITDA
228,261                  Continuous employment to 31 December 2021
342,391                  Continuous employment and more than 20% - 30% of 2021 Target EBITDA
456,522                  Continuous employment and more than 30% - 40% of 2021 Target EBITDA
570,652                  Continuous employment and more than 40% - 75% of 2021 Target EBITDA

570,652-1,711,957 Continuous employment and more than 75% - 125% of 2021 Target EBITDA (pro-rata)
1,711,956               Continuous employment and more than 125% of 2021 Target EBITDA

6. 1,534,639        30/6/2022 2021 Target Sales Volume
306,928                  Continuous employment to 31 December 2021
460,392                  Continuous employment and more than 20% - 30% of 2021 Target Sales Volume
613,856                  Continuous employment and more than 30% - 40% of 2021 Target Sales Volume
767,320                  Continuous employment and more than 40% - 75% of 2021 Target Sales Volume

767,320-2,301,959 Continuous employment and more than 75% - 125% of 2021 Target Sales Volume (pro-rata)
2,301,959               Continuous employment and more than 125% of 2021 Target Sales Volume

7. 1,940,350        1,940,350               31/12/2022 Share price reaching AU$1.14 at any time from 1 November 2019 to 31 Dec 2022

8. 2,182,894        2,182,894               31/12/2022 Share price reaching AU$1.52 at any time from 1 November 2019 to 31 Dec 2022

9. 3,432,494        3,432,494               31/12/2022 Share price reaching AU$1.90 at any time from 1 November 2019 to 31 Dec 2022

17,675,376       

No. of 
Performance 

Rights

Potential No. of 
SharesTranche Expiry Date Performance Condition

 21,110,195      
(maximum) 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020  

 

 Note Consolidated Group 

  2020 
US$ 

2019 
US$ 

Revenue 3 7,816,397 2,903,161 

Cost of sales  (6,512,164) (2,208,997) 

Gross Profit  1,304,233 694,164 

Other income 3 98,254 39,200 

Selling and distribution expenses  (153,741) (119,190) 

Corporate and administrative expenses  (4,836,486) (296,335) 

Foreign exchange loss  (228,195) - 

Listing costs  (5,356,997) - 

Acquisition costs  (1,795,519) - 

(Loss)/profit before interest and tax  (10,968,451) 317,839 

Interest (expense)/benefit  (75,714) 155 

(Loss)/profit before income tax  (11,044,165) 317,994 

Income tax benefit/(expense) 6 158,271 (84,264) 

Net (loss)/profit for the year  (10,885,894) 233,730 

Net profit attributable to:    

Owners of the Parent Entity  (10,300,840) (19,730) 

Non-controlling interests  (585,054) 253,460 

  (10,885,894) 233,730 

    

 

 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 

 

 Note Consolidated Group 

  2020 
US$ 

2019 
US$ 

Net (loss)/profit for the year  (10,885,894) 233,730 

Other comprehensive income    

Items that will be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss 
when specific conditions are met:    

Exchange differences on translating foreign operations, net of 
tax  39,585 - 

Total comprehensive income for the year  (10,846,309) 233,730 

Total comprehensive income attributable to:    

Owners of the Parent Entity  (10,308,643) (19,730) 

Non-controlling interests  (537,666) 253,460 

  (10,846,309) 233,730 

Loss per share    

Basic loss per share (cents) 9 (10) (1,170) 

    

Diluted loss per share (cents) 9 (9) (1,170) 

 

 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
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                                  CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 30 JUNE 2020 

 

 Note Consolidated Group  

  2020 2019 

  US$ US$ 

ASSETS    

CURRENT ASSETS    

Cash and cash equivalents 10 4,209,174 210,750 

Trade and other receivables 11 708,091 202,718 

Advances to suppliers  353,436 120,594 

Prepayments and deposits  13,155 - 

Inventories 12 183,116 472,202 

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS  5,466,972 1,006,264 

NON-CURRENT ASSETS    

Trade and other receivables 11 - 201,000 

Property, plant and equipment 14 1,178,246 566,171 

Intangible assets 15 7,774 7,774 

Right of use assets 16 75,760 115,413 

Deferred tax assets  85,780 - 

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS  1,347,560 890,358 

TOTAL ASSETS  6,814,532 1,896,622 

LIABILITIES    

CURRENT LIABILITIES    

Trade and other payables 17 328,121 600,874 

Lease liabilities 18 19,590 43,594 

Current tax liabilities 19 39,884 212,826 

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES  387,595 857,294 

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES    

Lease liabilities 18 18,608 42,557 

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES  18,608 42,557 

TOTAL LIABILITIES  406,203 899,851 

NET ASSETS  6,408,329 996,771 

EQUITY    

Issued capital 20 14,873,158 1,178 

Reserves 25 1,378,084 - 

Accumulated losses  (10,320,570) (19,730) 

Equity attributable to owners of the Parent Entity  5,930,672 (18,552) 

Non-controlling interest  477,657 1,015,323 

TOTAL EQUITY  6,408,329 996,771 

 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Consolidated Group        

  
Ordinary 

Shares 
Accumulated 

losses Subtotal 

Non-
controlling 

Interests Total 

  US$ US$ US$ US$ US$ 

On incorporation  734 - 734 - 734 

Comprehensive income       

Profit for the year  - (19,730) (19,730) 253,460 233,730 

Other comprehensive income for the year  - - - - - 

Total comprehensive income for the year  - (19,730) (19,730) 253,460 233,730 

Transactions with 
owners, in their 
capacity as owners, and 
other transfers       

Shares issued during the year  444 - 444 - 444 

Non-controlling interests on 

acquisitions  - - - 761,863 761,863 

Total transactions 
with owners and other 
transfers  444 - 444 761,863 762,307 

Balance at 30 June 2019  1,178 (19,730) (18,552) 1,015,323 996,771 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 

 

 

  
Ordinary 

Shares 

Share Based 
Payment 
Reserve 

Foreign 
Exchange 

Translation 
Reserve 

Accumulate
d losses Subtotal 

Non-
controlling 

Interests Total 

  US$ US$ US$ US$ US$ US$ US$ 

Balance at 1 July 2019  1,178 - - (19,730) (18,552) 1,015,323 996,771 

Comprehensive income         

Loss for the year  - - - (10,300,840) (10,300,840) (585,054) (10,885,894) 

Other comprehensive 
income for the year  - - (7,803) - (7,803) 47,388 39,585 

Total comprehensive 
income for the year  - - (7,803) (10,300,840) (10,308,643) (537,666) (10,846,309) 

Transactions with 
owners, in their capacity 
as owners, and other 
transfers    

 

    

Shares issued during the 
year  14,296,456 - 

- 
- 14,296,456 - 14,296,456 

Share issue costs  (558,519) - - - (558,519) - (558,519) 

Share based payments  - 2,519,930 - - 2,519,930 - 2,519,930 

Issue of shares to 
employees  1,134,043 (1,134,043) - - - - - 

Total transactions with 
owners and other 
transfers  14,871,980 1,385,887 - - 16,257,867 - 16,257,867 

Balance at 30 June 2020  14,873,158 1,385,887 (7,803) (10,320,570) 5,930,672 477,657 6,408,329 

 

 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 

 

 Note Consolidated Group 

  2020 
US$ 

2019 
US$ 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES    

Receipts from customers  7,210,387 2,903,035 

Payments to suppliers and employees  (9,008,529) (2,708,826) 

Other income  98,254 115,813 

Interest received  349 5,456 

Finance costs  (76,063) (5,301) 

Income tax paid  (96,746) (41,828) 

Net cash (used in)/generated by operating activities 22 (1,872,348) 268,349 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES    

Purchase of property, plant and equipment  (671,874) (52,544) 

Payments for acquisitions, net of cash acquired  311 17,468 

Net cash used in investing activities  (671,563) (35,076) 

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES    

Proceeds from issue of shares  9,378,600 444 

Repayments of lease liabilities  (42,243) (22,967) 

Proceeds from borrowings  2,732 - 

Repayment of borrowings  (41,399) - 

Acquisition and capital raising costs  (2,524,348) - 

Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities  6,773,342 (22,523) 

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  4,229,431 210,750 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of financial year  210,750 - 

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes  (231,007) - 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of financial year 10 4,209,174 210,750 

 

 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 

 

The consolidated financial statements and notes represent those of Pyx Resources Limited and Controlled 
Entities (the Consolidated Group or Group). 

The separate financial statements of the Parent Entity, Pyx Resources Limited have not been presented within 
this financial report as permitted by the Corporations Act 2001. 

The financial statements were authorised for issue on 11 September 2020 by the directors of the Company. 

 

Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Basis of Preparation 

These general purpose consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the 
Corporations Act 2001, Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations of the Australian Accounting 
Standards Board and in compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board. The Group is a for-profit entity for financial reporting purposes 
under Australian Accounting Standards. Material accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these 
financial statements are presented below and have been consistently applied unless stated otherwise. 

Except for cash flow information, the financial statements have been prepared on an accrual basis and are 
based on historical costs, modified, where applicable, by the measurement at fair value of selected non-current 
assets, financial assets and financial liabilities. 

Going Concern 

During the year ended 30 June 2020 the Group incurred a loss after tax of US$10,885,894 and had negative 
cash flows from operations of US$1,872,348. 

Management has considered it is appropriate to prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis. The 
year-end cash position of the Group was US$4,209,174.  The losses and negative cash flows from operations in 
the year of 2020 were because of the non-recurring items of US$10,013,781.  The main non-recurring items in 
the period were non-capitalized listing expenses of US$1,795,519, RTO transaction loss of US$5,356,997 
(accounting for the transaction loss on the reverse acquisition of Pyx Resources Ltd.) and accrual of 
management’s share-based payments of US$2,519,930.  The underlying EBITDA for the period was negative 
US$860,927 only.  Management has a detailed plan to increase the mining and production capacity which is 
expected to generate profit and positive cash flows from operations in the forthcoming years. 

These financial statements do not include any adjustments relating to the recoverability and classification of 
recorded asset amounts, nor to the amounts or classification of liabilities that might be necessary should the 
Group not be able to continue as a going concern. 

a. Principles of Consolidation 

 The consolidated financial statements incorporate all of the assets, liabilities and results of the Parent 
(Pyx Resources Limited) and all of the subsidiaries (including any structured entities). Subsidiaries are 
entities the Parent controls. The Parent controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has rights to, 
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through 
its power over the entity. A list of the subsidiaries is provided in Note 13. 

 The assets, liabilities and results of all subsidiaries are fully consolidated into the financial statements 
of the Group from the date on which control is obtained by the Group. The consolidation of a subsidiary 
is discontinued from the date that control ceases. Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised 
gains or losses on transactions between Group entities are fully eliminated on consolidation. 
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed and adjustments made where necessary to 
ensure uniformity of the accounting policies adopted by the Group. 

 Equity interests in a subsidiary not attributable, directly or indirectly, to the Group are presented as 
“non-controlling interests”. The Group initially recognises non-controlling interests that are present 
ownership interests in subsidiaries and are entitled to a proportionate share of the subsidiary’s net 
assets on liquidation at either fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the 
subsidiary’s net assets. Subsequent to initial recognition, non-controlling interests are attributed their 
share of profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income. Non-controlling interests 
are shown separately within the equity section of the statement of financial position and statement of 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 

 
comprehensive income. 

 Business combinations 

 Business combinations occur where an acquirer obtains control over one or more businesses. 

 A business combination is accounted for by applying the acquisition method, unless it is a combination 
involving entities or businesses under common control. The business combination will be accounted 
for from the date that control is obtained, whereby the fair value of the identifiable assets acquired and 
liabilities (including contingent liabilities) assumed is recognised (subject to certain limited 
exemptions). 

 When measuring the consideration transferred in the business combination, any asset or liability 
resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement is also included. Subsequent to initial 
recognition, contingent consideration classified as equity is not remeasured and its subsequent 
settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability is 
remeasured in each reporting period to fair value, recognising any change to fair value in profit or loss, 
unless the change in value can be identified as existing at acquisition date. 

 All transaction costs incurred in relation to business combinations, other than those associated with 
the issue of a financial instrument, are recognised as expenses in profit or loss when incurred. 

 The acquisition of a business may result in the recognition of goodwill or a gain from a bargain 
purchase. 

 Goodwill 

 Goodwill is carried at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is calculated as the excess 
of the sum of: 

 (i) the consideration transferred at fair value; 

 (ii) any non-controlling interest (determined under either the fair value or proportionate interest 
method); and 

 (iii) the acquisition date fair value of any previously held equity interest; 

 over the acquisition date fair value of any identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. 

 The acquisition date fair value of the consideration transferred for a business combination plus the 
acquisition date fair value of any previously held equity interest shall form the cost of the investment in 
the separate financial statements. 

 Changes in the Group's ownership interests in subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing 
control over the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the 
Group's interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative 
interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by which the noncontrolling interests 
are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity and 
attributed to owners of the Company. 

 When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, a gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss and is 
calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received 
and the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the assets (including 
goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interests. All amounts previously 
recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the 
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (ie reclassified to profit 
or loss or transferred to another category of equity as specified/permitted by applicable Accounting 
Standards). The fair value of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date when control 
is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under AASB 139: 
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of 
an investment in an associate or a joint venture. 

 The amount of goodwill recognised on acquisition of each subsidiary in which the Group holds less 
than 100% interest will depend on the method adopted in measuring the non-controlling interest. The 
Group can elect in most circumstances to measure the non-controlling interest in the acquiree either at 
fair value (full goodwill method) or at the non-controlling interest's proportionate share of the 
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subsidiary's identifiable net assets (proportionate interest method). In such circumstances, the Group 
determines which method to adopt for each acquisition and this is stated in the respective note to the 
financial statements disclosing the business combination. 

 Under the full goodwill method, the fair value of the non-controlling interest is determined using 
valuation techniques which make the maximum use of market information where available. 

 Goodwill on acquisition of subsidiaries is included in intangible assets. Goodwill on acquisition of 
associates is included in investments in associates. 

 Goodwill is tested for impairment annually and is allocated to the Group's cash-generating units or 
groups of cash-generating units, representing the lowest level at which goodwill is monitored and not 
larger than an operating segment. Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity include the carrying 
amount of goodwill related to the entity disposed of. 

 Changes in the ownership interests in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted 
for as equity transactions and do not affect the carrying amounts of goodwill. 

Reverse Acquisition Accounting 
On 31 January 2020, Pyx Resources Limited (“PYX”) completed a Reverse Takeover 
(“RTO”) with Takmur Pte. Ltd. (“Takmur”). In accordance with accounting standards, this 
RTO has been accounted for as a reverse acquisition business combination, described in 
this financial report as an RTO. 

In applying the requirements of AASB 3 Business Combinations: 

a) PYX became the legal parent entity to the Group; and 

b) Takmur, which is neither the legal parent nor legal acquirer, is deemed to be the accounting 
acquirer. 

The consolidated financial information incorporated the assets and liabilities of all entities deemed to 
be acquired by Takmur and its controlled entities and the results of these entities for the period from 
which those entities are accounted for as being acquired by Takmur. The assets and liabilities of PYX 
acquired by Takmur were recorded at fair value whilst the assets and liabilities of Takmur were 
maintained at their book value. The impact of all transactions between entities in the Group were 
eliminated in full. The impact on equity of treating the formation of the Group as a RTO is discussed in 
more detail in note 5. 

AASB 3 Business Combinations requires that consolidated financial statements prepared following 
an RTO shall be issued under the name of the legal parent (i.e. PYX), but be a continuation of the 
financial statements of the legal subsidiary (i.e. Takmur. the acquirer for accounting purposes). 
The implications of applying AASB 3 on each of the attached financial statements comparatives are 
as follows: 

Statement of financial position 

The consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2020 represents the consolidated 
financial position of Takmur Pte. Ltd. (“Takmur”) and its controlled entities as at 30 June 2020. 
The consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2019 represents the consolidated 
financial position of Takmur and its controlled entities as at 30 June 2019. 

Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 

The consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year ended 30 June 2020 represents the 
consolidated results of Takmur and its controlled entities for the period from 1 July 2019 to 30 
June 2020 and the consolidated results of PYX for the period from 1 February 2020 (date after the 
RTO) to 30 June 2020.  The comparative information for the period ended 30 June 2019 
represents results of Takmur for the period from 28 June 2018 (date of incorporation) to 30 June 
2019, the consolidated results of its controlled entity, PT Andary Usaha Makmur, for the period 
from 10 January 2019 to 30 June 2019 and the consolidated results of its controlled entity, PT 
Investasi Mandiri, for the period from 24 January 2019 to 30 June 2019.  

 Application of AASB 16   

 As disclosed in Note 13(a), the financial statements are those of the accounting acquirer, whose 
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financial year-end is 31 December. As such, AASB 16 was adopted effective 1 January 2019. 

b. Income Tax 

 The income tax expense (income) for the year comprises current income tax expense (income) and 
deferred tax expense (income). 

 Current income tax expense charged to profit or loss is the tax payable on taxable income for the 
current period. Current tax liabilities (assets) are measured at the amounts expected to be paid to 
(recovered from) the relevant taxation authority using tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted 
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. 

 Deferred tax expense reflects movements in deferred tax asset and deferred tax liability balances 
during the year as well as unused tax losses. 

 Current and deferred income tax expense (income) is charged or credited outside profit or loss when 
the tax relates to items that are recognised outside profit or loss or arising from a business 
combination. 

 A deferred tax liability shall be recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except to the extent 
that the deferred tax liability arises from: (a) the initial recognition of goodwill; or (b) the initial 
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction which: (i) is not a business combination; and (ii) at 
the time of the transaction, affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profit (tax loss). 

 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period 
when the asset is realised or the liability is settled and their measurement also reflects the manner in 
which management expects to recover or settle the carrying amount of the related asset or liability. 
With respect to non-depreciable items of property, plant and equipment measured at fair value and 
items of investment property measured at fair value, the related deferred tax liability or deferred tax 
asset is measured on the basis that the carrying amount of the asset will be recovered entirely through 
sale.  When an investment property that is depreciable is held by the entity in a business model whose 
objective is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the property through use 
over time (rather than through sale), the related deferred tax liability or deferred tax asset is measured 
on the basis that the carrying amount of such property will be recovered entirely through use. 

 Deferred tax assets relating to temporary differences and unused tax losses are recognised only to the 
extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the benefits of the 
deferred tax asset can be utilised, unless the deferred tax asset relating to temporary differences arises 
from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that: 

 – is not a business combination; and 

 – at the time of the transaction, affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profit (tax loss). 

 Where temporary differences exist in relation to investments in subsidiaries, branches, associates, and 
joint ventures, deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised where the timing of the reversal of 
the temporary difference can be controlled and it is not probable that the reversal will occur in the 
foreseeable future. 

 Current tax assets and liabilities are offset where a legally enforceable right of set-off exists and it is 
intended that net settlement or simultaneous realisation and settlement of the respective asset and 
liability will occur. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where: (i) a legally enforceable right of 
set-off exists; and (ii) the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same 
taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities where it is intended 
that net settlement or simultaneous realisation and settlement of the respective asset and liability will 
occur in future periods in which significant amounts of deferred tax assets or liabilities are expected to 
be recovered or settled. 

c. Inventories 

 Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of manufactured 
products includes direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of variable and fixed 
overheads. Overheads are applied on the basis of normal operating capacity. Costs are assigned on the 
first-in, first-out basis.  
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d. Property, Plant and Equipment  

 Each class of property, plant and equipment is carried at cost or fair value as indicated less, where 
applicable, any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. 

 Property, plant and equipment are measured on the cost basis and therefore carried at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment. In the event the carrying amount of plant 
and equipment is greater than the estimated recoverable amount, the carrying amount is written down 
immediately to the estimated recoverable amount and impairment losses are recognised. A formal 
assessment of recoverable amount is made when impairment indicators are present (refer to Note 1(g) 
for details of impairment). 

 The carrying amount of plant and equipment is reviewed annually by directors to ensure it is not in 
excess of the recoverable amount from these assets. The recoverable amount is assessed on the basis of 
the expected net cash flows that will be received from the asset’s employment and subsequent disposal. 
The expected net cash flows have been discounted to their present values in determining recoverable 
amounts. 

 The cost of fixed assets constructed within the Consolidated Group includes the cost of materials, direct 
labour, borrowing costs and an appropriate proportion of fixed and variable overheads. 

 Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as 
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow 
to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are 
recognised as expenses in profit or loss during the financial period in which they are incurred. 

 Depreciation 

 The depreciable amount of all fixed assets including buildings and capitalised leased assets, but 
excluding freehold land, is depreciated on a straight-line basis over the asset’s useful life to the 
Consolidated Group commencing from the time the asset is held ready for use. Leasehold 
improvements are depreciated over the shorter of either the unexpired period of the lease or the 
estimated useful lives of the improvements. 

 The depreciation rates used for each class of depreciable assets are: 

 Class of Fixed Asset Depreciation Rate 

 Buildings 5% 

 Plant and Equipment 

Furniture and Fittings 

Motor Vehicle 

20% 

25% 

25% 

 The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each 
reporting period. 

 An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s 
carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount. 

 Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amount. These 
gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise. Gains shall not be 
classified as revenue. When revalued assets are sold, amounts included in the revaluation surplus 
relating to that asset are transferred to retained earnings. 
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e. Leases (the Group as lessee) 

 The Group as lessee 

 At inception of a contract, the Group assesses if the contract contains or is a lease. If there is a lease 
present, a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability is recognised by the Group where the 
Group is a lessee. However all contracts that are classified as short-term leases (lease with remaining 
lease term of 12 months or less) and leases of low value assets are recognised as an operating expense 
on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. 

 Initially the lease liability is measured at the present value of the lease payments still to be paid at 
commencement date. The lease payments are discounted at the interest rate implicit in the lease. If this 
rate cannot be readily determined, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate. 

 Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability are as follows: 

 – fixed lease payments less any lease incentives; 

 – variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or 
rate at the commencement date; 

 – the amount expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees 

 – the exercise price of purchase options, if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the 
options; 

 – lease payments under extension options if lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the options; 
and 

 – payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the exercise of an 
option to terminate the lease. 

 The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the corresponding lease liability as 
mentioned above, any lease payments made at or before the commencement date as well as any initial 
direct costs. The subsequent measurement of the right-of-use assets is at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses. 

 Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the lease term or useful life of the underlying asset whichever 
is the shortest. 

Where a lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects 
that the Group anticipates to exercise a purchase option, the specific asset is depreciated over the 
useful life of the underlying asset. 

f. Financial Instruments 

 Initial recognition and measurement 

 Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions to the instrument. For financial assets, this is the date that the Group commits 
itself to either the purchase or sale of the asset (ie trade date accounting is adopted). 

 Financial instruments (except for trade receivables) are initially measured at fair value plus transaction 
costs, except where the instrument is classified "at fair value through profit or loss", in which case 
transaction costs are expensed to profit or loss immediately. Where available, quoted prices in an 
active market are used to determine fair value. In other circumstances, valuation techniques are 
adopted. 

 Trade receivables are initially measured at the transaction price if the trade receivables do not contain 
a significant financing component or if the practical expedient was applied as specified in AASB 15.63. 

 Classification and subsequent measurement 

 Financial liabilities 

 Financial instruments are subsequently measured at: 

 – amortised cost; or 

 – fair value through profit or loss. 
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 A financial liability is measured at fair value through profit and loss if the financial liability is: 

 – a contingent consideration of an acquirer in a business combination to which AASB 3: Business 
Combinations applies; 

 – held for trading; or 

 – initially designated as at fair value through profit or loss. 

 All other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method. 

 The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of 
allocating interest expense in profit or loss over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the 
internal rate of return of the financial asset or liability. That is, it is the rate that exactly discounts the 
estimated future cash flows through the expected life of the instrument to the net carrying amount at 
initial recognition. 

 A financial liability is held for trading if: 

 – it is incurred for the purpose of repurchasing or repaying in the near term; 

 – part of a portfolio where there is an actual pattern of short-term profit taking; or 

 – a derivative financial instrument (except for a derivative that is in a financial guarantee contract 
or a derivative that is in a effective hedging relationships). 

 Any gains or losses arising on changes in fair value are recognised in profit or loss to the extent that 
they are not part of a designated hedging relationship are recognised in profit or loss. 

 The change in fair value of the financial liability attributable to changes in the issuer's credit risk is 
taken to other comprehensive income and are not subsequently reclassified to profit or loss. Instead, 
they are transferred to retained earnings upon derecognition of the financial liability. If taking the 
change in credit risk in other comprehensive income enlarges or creates an accounting mismatch, then 
these gains or losses should be taken to profit or loss rather than other comprehensive income. 

 A financial liability cannot be reclassified. 

 Financial guarantee contracts 

 A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified payments to 
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due in 
accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. 

 Financial guarantee contracts are initially measured at fair values (and if not designated as at fair value 
through profit or loss and do not arise from a transfer of a financial asset) and subsequently measured 
at the higher of: 

 – the amount of loss allowance determined in accordance with AASB 9.3.25.3; and 

 – the amount initially recognised less the accumulative amount of income recognised in 
accordance with the revenue recognition policies. 

 Financial assets 

 Financial assets are subsequently measured at: 

 – amortised cost; 

 – fair value through other comprehensive income; or 

 – fair value through profit or loss. 

 Measurement is on the basis of two primary criteria: 

 – the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset; and 

 – the business model for managing the financial assets. 
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 A financial asset that meets the following conditions is subsequently measured at amortised cost: 

 – the financial asset is managed solely to collect contractual cash flows; and 

 – the contractual terms within the financial asset give rise to cash flows that are solely payments 
of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding on specified dates. 

 A financial asset that meets the following conditions is subsequently measured at fair value through 
other comprehensive income: 

 – the contractual terms within the financial asset give rise to cash flows that are solely payments 
of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding on specified dates; 

 – the business model for managing the financial assets comprises both contractual cash flows 
collection and the selling of the financial asset. 

 By default, all other financial assets that do not meet the measurement conditions of amortised cost 
and fair value through other comprehensive income are subsequently measured at fair value through 
profit or loss. 

 The Group initially designates a financial instrument as measured at fair value through profit or loss if:  

 – it eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency (often 
referred to as “accounting mismatch”) that would otherwise arise from measuring assets or 
liabilities or recognising the gains and losses on them on different bases; 

 – it is in accordance with the documented risk management or investment strategy, and 
information about the groupings was documented appropriately, so that the performance of the 
financial liability that was part of a group of financial liabilities or financial assets can be 
managed and evaluated consistently on a fair value basis; 

 – it is a hybrid contract that contains an embedded derivative that significantly modifies the cash 
flows otherwise required by the contract. 

 The initial designation of the financial instruments to measure at fair value through profit or loss is a 
one-time option on initial classification and is irrevocable until the financial asset is derecognised. 

 Equity instruments 

 At initial recognition, as long as the equity instrument is not held for trading and not a contingent 
consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business combination to which AASB 3:Business 
Combinations applies, the Group  made an irrevocable election to measure any subsequent changes in 
fair value of the equity instruments in other comprehensive income, while the dividend revenue 
received on underlying equity instruments investment will still be recognised in profit or loss. 

 Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised at settlement date 
in accordance with the Group's accounting policy. 

 Derecognition 

 Derecognition refers to the removal of a previously recognised financial asset or financial liability from 
the statement of financial position. 

 Derecognition of financial liabilities 

 A liability is derecognised when it is extinguished (ie when the obligation in the contract is discharged, 
cancelled or expires). An exchange of an existing financial liability for a new one with substantially 
modified terms, or a substantial modification to the terms of a financial liability is treated as an 
extinguishment of the existing liability and recognition of a new financial liability. 

 The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the 
consideration paid and payable, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is 
recognised in profit or loss. 
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 Derecognition of financial assets 

 A financial asset is derecognised when the holder's contractual rights to its cash flows expires, or the 
asset is transferred in such a way that all the risks and rewards of ownership are substantially 
transferred. 

 All of the following criteria need to be satisfied for derecognition of financial asset: 

 – the right to receive cash flows from the asset has expired or been transferred; 

 – all risk and rewards of ownership of the asset have been substantially transferred; and 

 – the Group no longer controls the asset (ie the Group has no practical ability to make a unilateral 
decision to sell the asset to a third party). 

 On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference between the asset's 
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or 
loss. 

 On derecognition of a debt instrument classified as at fair value through other comprehensive income, 
the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve is 
reclassified to profit or loss. 

 On derecognition of an investment in equity which was elected to be classified under fair value through 
other comprehensive income, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the investment 
revaluation reserve is not reclassified to profit or loss, but is transferred to retained earnings. 

 Impairment 

 The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses on: 

 – financial assets that are measured at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive 
income; 

 – lease receivables; 

 – contract assets (eg amounts due from customers under construction contracts); 

 – loan commitments that are not measured at fair value through profit or loss; and 

 – financial guarantee contracts that are not measured at fair value through profit or loss. 

 Loss allowance is not recognised for: 

 – financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss; or 

 – equity instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income. 

 Expected credit losses are the probability-weighted estimate of credit losses over the expected life of a 
financial instrument. A credit loss is the difference between all contractual cash flows that are due and 
all cash flows expected to be received, all discounted at the original effective interest rate of the 
financial instrument. 

 The Group uses the following approaches to impairment, as applicable under AASB 9: Financial 
Instruments: 

 – the general approach 

 – the simplified approach 

 General approach 

 Under the general approach, at each reporting period, the Group assesses whether the financial 
instruments are credit-impaired, and if: 

 – the credit risk of the financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition, 
the Group measures the loss allowance of the financial instruments at an amount equal to the 
lifetime expected credit losses; or 

 – there is no significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group measures the 
loss allowance for that financial instrument at an amount equal to 12-month expected credit 
losses. 
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 Simplified approach 

 The simplified approach does not require tracking of changes in credit risk at every reporting period, 
but instead requires the recognition of lifetime expected credit loss at all times. This approach is 
applicable to: 

 – trade receivables or contract assets that result from transactions within the scope of AASB 15: 
Revenue from Contracts with Customers  and which do not contain a significant financing 
component; and 

 – lease receivables. 

 In measuring the expected credit loss, a provision matrix for trade receivables was used taking into 
consideration various data to get to an expected credit loss (ie diversity of customer base, appropriate 
groupings of historical loss experience, etc). 

 Recognition of expected credit losses in financial statements 

 At each reporting date, the Group recognises the movement in the loss allowance as an impairment 
gain or loss in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 

 The carrying amount of financial assets measured at amortised cost includes the loss allowance 
relating to that asset. 

 Assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income are recognised at fair value, with 
changes in fair value recognised in other comprehensive income. Amounts in relation to change in 
credit risk are transferred from other comprehensive income to profit or loss at every reporting period. 

 For financial assets that are unrecognised (eg loan commitments yet to be drawn, financial guarantees), 
a provision for loss allowance is created in the statement of financial position to recognise the loss 
allowance. 

g. Impairment of Assets 

 At the end of each reporting period, the Group assesses whether there is any indication that an asset 
may be impaired. The assessment will include the consideration of external and internal sources of 
information including dividends received from subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures deemed to be 
out of pre-acquisition profits. If such an indication exists, an impairment test is carried out on the asset 
by comparing the recoverable amount of the asset, being the higher of the asset’s fair value less costs of 
disposal and value in use, to the asset’s carrying amount. Any excess of the asset’s carrying amount 
over its recoverable amount is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the asset is carried at a 
revalued amount in accordance with another Standard (eg in accordance with the revaluation model in 
AASB 116: Property, Plant and Equipment). Any impairment loss of a revalued asset is treated as a 
revaluation decrease in accordance with that other Standard. 

 Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates 
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. 

 Impairment testing is performed annually for goodwill, intangible assets with indefinite lives and 
intangible assets not yet available for use. 

 When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating 
unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying 
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment 
loss been recognised for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment 
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued 
amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase. 

h. Foreign Currency Transactions and Balances 

 Functional and presentation currency 

 The functional currency of each of the Group’s entities is the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which that entity operates. The consolidated financial statements are presented in 
United States dollars, which is the Parent Entity’s functional currency. 
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 Transactions and balances 

 Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates 
prevailing at the date of the transaction. Foreign currency monetary items are translated at the year-
end exchange rate. Non-monetary items measured at historical cost continue to be carried at the 
exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Non-monetary items measured at fair value are reported at 
the exchange rate at the date when fair values were determined. 

 Exchange differences arising on the translation of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss, 
except exchange differences that arise from net investment hedges. 

 Exchange differences arising on the translation of non-monetary items are recognised directly in other 
comprehensive income to the extent that the underlying gain or loss is recognised in other 
comprehensive income; otherwise the exchange difference is recognised in profit or loss. 

 Group companies 

 The financial results and position of foreign operations, whose functional currency is different from the 
Group’s presentation currency, are translated as follows: 

 –  assets and liabilities are translated at exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting 
period;  

 – income and expenses are translated at exchange rates on the date of transaction; and 

 – all resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income. 

 Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operations with functional currencies other than 
US dollars are recognised in other comprehensive income and included in the foreign exchange 
translation reserve in the statement of change in equity and allocated to non-controlling interest where 
relevant. The cumulative amount of these differences is reclassified into profit or loss in the period in 
which the operation is disposed of. 

i. Employee Benefits 

 Short-term employee benefits 

 Provision is made for the Group’s obligation for short-term employee benefits. Short-term employee 
benefits are benefits (other than termination benefits) that are expected to be settled wholly before 12 
months after the end of the annual reporting period in which the employees render the related service, 
including wages, salaries and sick leave. Short-term employee benefits are measured at the 
(undiscounted) amounts expected to be paid when the obligation is settled. 

 The Group’s obligations for short-term employee benefits such as wages, salaries and sick leave are 
recognised as part of current trade and other payables in the statement of financial position. The 
Group’s obligations for employees’ annual leave and long service leave entitlements are recognised as 
provisions in the statement of financial position. 

 Other long-term employee benefits 

 Provision is made for employees’ long service leave and annual leave entitlements not expected to be 
settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the annual reporting period in which the employees 
render the related service. Other long-term employee benefits are measured at the present value of the 
expected future payments to be made to employees. Expected future payments incorporate anticipated 
future wage and salary levels, durations of service and employee departures and are discounted at 
rates determined by reference to market yields at the end of the reporting period on government 
bonds that have maturity dates that approximate the terms of the obligations. Any remeasurements for 
changes in assumptions of obligations for other long-term employee benefits are recognised in profit or 
loss in the periods in which the changes occur. 

 The Group’s obligations for long-term employee benefits are presented as non-current provisions in its 
statement of financial position, except where the Group does not have an unconditional right to defer 
settlement for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period, in which case the obligations are 
presented as current provisions. 
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 Equity-settled compensation 

 The Group operates an employee performance rights plan. Share-based payments to employees are 
measured at the fair value of the instruments at grant date and amortised over the vesting periods. The 
corresponding amounts are recognised in the share-based payment reserve and statement of profit and 
loss respectively. The fair value of rights is determined by reference to the share price of the Company. 
The number of rights expected to vest is reviewed and adjusted at the end of each reporting period 
such that the amount recognised for services received as consideration for the equity instruments 
granted is based on the number of equity instruments that eventually vest. 

j. Provisions 

 Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal or constructive obligation, as a result of past 
events, for which it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will result and that outflow can be 
reliably measured.  

Provisions are measured using the best estimate of the amounts required to settle the obligation at the 
end of the reporting period. 

k. Cash and Cash Equivalents 

 Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits available on demand with banks, other short-
term highly liquid investments with original maturities of 3 months or less, and bank overdrafts. Bank 
overdrafts are reported within borrowings in current liabilities on the statement of financial position. 

l. Revenue and Other Income 

 Revenue recognition 

 Revenue from sales of zircon is recognised when the customer takes possession of and accepts the 
products. If the products are a partial fulfilment of a contract covering other goods and/or services, 
then the amount of revenue recognised is an appropriate proportion of the total transaction price 
under the contract, allocated between all the goods and services promised under the contract on a 
relative stand-alone selling price basis. 

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method. 

m. Borrowing Costs 

 Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of assets that 
necessarily take a substantial period of time to prepare for their intended use or sale are added to the 
cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. 

 All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred. 

n. Comparative Figures 

 When required by Accounting Standards, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to 
changes in presentation for the current financial year.  

o. Segment Information 

AASB 8 requires operating segments to be identified on the basis of internal reports about components 
of the Company that are regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision maker in order to allocate 
resources to the segment and to assess its performance. 

The Group engages in one business segment, being premium zircon production, activities from which it 
incurs costs. Consequently, the results of the Group are analysed as a whole by the chief operating 
decision maker. 

p. Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements 

 The directors evaluate estimates and judgements incorporated into the financial statements based on 
historical knowledge and best available current information. Estimates assume a reasonable 
expectation of future events and are based on current trends and economic data, obtained both 
externally and within the Group. 
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 Key estimates 

 (i) Impairment 

  The Group assesses impairment at the end of each reporting period by evaluating the conditions 
and events specific to the Group that may be indicative of impairment triggers. Recoverable 
amounts of relevant assets are reassessed using value-in-use calculations which incorporate 
various key assumptions.  

 Key judgements 

 (i) Performance obligations under AASB 15 

  To identify a performance obligation under AASB 15, the promise must be sufficiently specific 
to be able to determine when the obligation is satisfied. Management exercises judgement to 
determine whether the promise is sufficiently specific by taking into account any conditions 
specified in the arrangement, explicit or implicit, regarding the promised goods or services. In 
making this assessment, management includes the nature/ type, cost/ value, quantity and the 
period of transfer related to the goods or services promised. 

 (ii) Lease term and Option to Extend under AASB 16 

  The lease term is defined as the non-cancellable period of a lease together with both periods 
covered by an option to extend the lease if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise that 
option; and also periods covered by an option to terminate the lease if the lessee is reasonably 
certain not to exercise that option. The decision on whether or not the options to extend are 
reasonably going to be exercised is a key management judgement that the entity will make. The 
Group determines the likeliness to exercise on a lease-by-lease basis looking at various factors 
such as which assets are strategic and which are key to future strategy of the entity. 

 (iii) Impact of COVID-19 on the Group 

  2019 showed the strength of the mineral sands market and in particular the zircon market, with 
zircon prices reach a historic high during the fourth quarter of the year. Demand remained 
strong during the first half of 2020, with our order book reaching the highest level since 
production started in 2015 and exceeding our maximum operation capacity. Even with the 
global economic fallout caused by the COVID-19 outbreak, prices in 2020 have so far been 
roughly in line with the 2019 average pricing. The reasons are: (i) zircon is a concentrated 
industry with a few suppliers accounting for a large share of the supply base (ii) expectations 
that a structural supply deficit would persist, buoying zircon prices. 
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NOTE 2: PARENT INFORMATION 
 2020 

US$ 
2019 
US$ 

The following information has been extracted from the books and records of 
the financial information of the Parent Entity set out below and has been 
prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards. 

  

Statement of Financial Position   

ASSETS   

Current assets 6,175,150 - 

Non-current assets 4,917,856 344,228 

TOTAL ASSETS 11,093,006 344,228 

LIABILITIES   

Current liabilities 111,362 362,780 

Non-current liabilities - - 

TOTAL LIABILITIES 111,362 362,780 

EQUITY   

Issued capital 22,143,645 1,178 

Accumulated losses (12,886,952) (19,730) 

Share-based payment reserve 1,724,951 - 

TOTAL EQUITY 10,981,644 (18,552) 

   

Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income   

Net loss (6,330,239) (19,730) 

Total comprehensive income (6,330,239) (19,730) 
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NOTE 3: REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME 
 

The Group has recognised the following amounts relating to revenue in the statement of profit or loss. 
 

Note 
2020 
US$ 

2019 
US$ 

Revenue from contracts with customers 3a 7,816,397 2,903,161 

Other sources of revenue 3b 349 5,456 

  7,816,746 2,908,617 

Other income 3c 98,254 39,200 

a. Revenue from contracts with customers 

 Revenue from contracts with customers represents the amounts received and receivable for production 
and distribution of premium Zircon. 

    
 

2020 
US$ 

2019 
US$ 

b. Other sources of revenue    

 Interest received    

 – unrelated parties  349 5,456 

 Total interest received  349 5,456 

 Total other sources of revenues  349 5,456 

     

c. Other income    

 Other income  98,254 39,200 

   98,254 39,200 

 

NOTE 4: (LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 
  Consolidated Group 

  2020 
US$ 

2019 
US$ 

(Loss)/profit before income tax from continuing operations 
includes the following specific expenses: 

   

a. Expenses    

 Cost of sales   6,512,164 2,208,997 

 Interest expense on financial liabilities not classified as at 
fair value through profit or loss: 

   

 –  unrelated parties  64,656 - 

 Finance charges  11,407 5,301 

 Total finance cost  76,063 5,301 

 Employee benefits expense:    

 –  Staff salaries and benefits  321,256 42,313 

 –  Share based payments  2,519,930 - 

 Foreign currency losses   228,195 - 

 Loss allowance on financial assets and other items:    

 –  loss allowance on trade receivables  - 3,556 
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NOTE 5: ACQUISITION OF TAKMUR PTE. LTD. (“TAKMUR”) 

 
On 30 July 2019, Pyx Resources Limited (“PYX”) entered into a Share Exchange Agreement with the 
shareholders of Takmur (“Takmur Vendors”), whereby Pyx would acquire 100% of Takmur, subject to 
certain conditions precedent. This transaction completed on 31 January 2020 with PYX issuing 
210,274,171 shares to Takmur Vendors. This transaction constituted a Reverse Takeover (“RTO”). On 
completion of the transaction, PYX’s shares were re-instated to quotation on the NSX on 24 February 
2020. 

Under the accounting standards, when a transaction involves the transfer of consideration through the 
issue of share capital, the directors must make an assessment of who the accounting acquirer in the 
transaction is by examining the following indicators of control, post-transaction, including a) the 
proportion of shareholder representation in the newly merged group from each transacting entity; and 
b) the ability of that shareholder group to influence control through its power over the governance and 
operations of the newly merged entity. 

After due consideration by the Board and management of composition and other factors, Takmur was 
determined to be the acquirer for accounting purposes. The implications of this RTO of Pyx by Takmur 
are: 

(i) Although PYX was considered to be the legal parent company, Takmur was deemed to be the 
parent company for accounting purposes; 

(ii) The consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year ended 30 June 2020 represents the 
consolidated results of Takmur and its controlled entities for the period from 1 July 2019 to 30 
Jun 2020 and the consolidated results of PYX for the period from 1 February 2020 (date after the 
RTO) to 30 June 2020.; 

(iii) The comparative information for the period ended 30 June 2019 represents results of Takmur for 
the period from 28 June 2018 (date of incorporation) to 30 June 2019, the consolidated results of 
its controlled entity, PT Andary Usaha Makmur, for the period from 10 January 2019 to 30 June 
2019 and the consolidated results of its controlled entity, PT Investasi Mandiri, for the period 
from 24 January 2019 to 30 June 2019; 

(iv) The consideration that Takmur is deemed to have paid for PYX is the fair value of PYX's equity at 
the date of the RTO, which was US$4,917,856. This consideration has been allocated to the fair 
value of PYX's intangible and tangible assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities. 

Application of AASB 3 Business Combinations 
Under the accounting standards, the Group has 12 months from the date of acquisition in which to 
complete its assessment of the fair value of assets and liabilities acquired. The Group has recognised its 
initial acquisition accounting estimates as a result of this assessment as the provisional fair values are 
outlined below. 
 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 

 

    Consolidated Group 

    2020 
US$ 

2019 
US$ 

 –  loss allowance on other financial assets measured at 
amortised cost: 

   

  - unrelated parties  - 1,178 

 Rental expense on operating leases    

 –  short- term lease expense  100,366 19,041 

 Depreciation  93,743 32,056 
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NOTE 5: ACQUISITION OF TAKMUR PTE. LTD. (“TAKMUR”) (CONTINUED) 

When the accounting acquiree does not satisfy the definition of a business, as set out in AASB 3 “Business 
Combinations”, the acquisition by the acquirer of the non-business entity is treated as a share-based 
payment under AASB 2 “Share-based payments” and any dilution in the value of equity of the accounting 
acquirer, plus any further consideration paid for the acquisition including related transaction costs, less 
the written-down book values of its assets and liabilities consolidated into the merged entity is charged 
to the profit and loss as a transaction cost. The value of the dilution of equity is calculated at its fair value 
as at the date of the transaction (when the transaction is contractually completed – its grant date), being 
its quoted market value. 
Upon consolidation in the newly merged entity, all intergroup balances and transactions between 
entities in the pro-forma consolidated group, including any unrealised profits or losses, are eliminated. 
As at the date of completion, Takmur Vendors held 210,274,171 shares which represented 79.8% of the 
post-consolidation number of shares and shareholders, PYX held 18,284,582 shares, representing 6.9%. 
Immediately prior to the RTO the book value of PYX’s net assets was as follows: 

 30 January 2020 

US$ 

Cash and cash equivalents 311 

Other receivables 36,042 

Trade and other payables (434,747) 

Borrowings (40,747) 

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed (439,141) 

The transaction cost of the RTO, which was booked to the statement of comprehensive income, was 
calculated as follows: 

 30 January 2020 

US$ 

Consideration transferred: 4,917,856 

Fair value of net liabilities acquired 439,141 

Transaction costs 5,356,997 
 
The consideration transferred has been accounted for as an increase in share capital of US$4,917,856. 
Deemed transaction costs have been expensed in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss for the year 
ended 30 June 2020. 
 
NOTE 6: TAX EXPENSE 
  Consolidated Group 

  2020 
US$ 

2019 
US$ 

a. The components of tax (expense) income comprise:    

 Current tax   71,799 (84,264) 

 Deferred tax   86,472 - 

   158,271 (84,264) 
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   Consolidated Group 

   2020 
US$ 

2019 
US$ 

b. The prima facie tax on (loss)/profit from ordinary activities 
before income tax is reconciled to income tax as follows: 

   

 (Loss)/profit before income tax expense  (11,044,165) 317,994 

 Prima facie tax payable on (loss)/profit from ordinary 
activities before income tax at 27.5% (2019: 27.5%)  

  

3,037,146 

 

(87,448) 

 Effect of different tax rate of subsidiaries  (19,884) 8,443 

 Add:     

 Tax effect of:     

 –  non-allowable items   (523,247) (1,905) 

 –  Tax losses and temporary differences not recognised 
as deferred tax assets 

  

(2,407,543) 

 

(3,354) 

 –  Tax credit  71,799 - 

 Income tax benefit/(expense)   158,271 (84,264) 

 
NOTE 7: KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL COMPENSATION 
 
Refer to the remuneration report contained in the directors’ report for details of the remuneration paid or payable to 
each member of the Group’s key management personnel (KMP) for the year ended 30 June 2020.  

                                                                                                                                                          Consolidated Group 

  2020 
US$ 

2019 
US$ 

Short-term employee benefits  495,398 129,100 

Share-based payments  2,519,930 - 

Total KMP compensation  3,015,328 129,100 

  

NOTE 8: AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION 
 Consolidated Group 

 2020 
US$ 

2019 
US$ 

Remuneration of the auditor for:   

–  auditing or reviewing the financial statements   

 Hall Chadwick (NSW) 56,094 11,748 

 Pitcher Partners BA & A Pty Ltd. 8,482 - 

–  taxation services   

 Pitcher Partners BA & A Pty Ltd. 1,290 - 

  65,866 11,748 
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NOTE 9: LOSS PER SHARE 

  Consolidated Group 

  2020 
US$ 

2019 
US$ 

a. Reconciliation of losses to profit or loss:   

 Loss attributable to non-controlling equity interest (10,300,840) (19,730) 

 Loss used to calculate basic and dilutive EPS (10,300,840) (19,730) 

    

  No. No. 

 Weighted average number of ordinary shares on issue used in the 
calculating of basic loss per share 

 

108,153,655 

 

1,686 

 Weighted average number of dilutive options outstanding 537,500 - 

 Weighted average number of dilutive performance rights outstanding 12,488,808 - 

 Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year 
used in calculating dilutive loss per share 

 

121,179,963 

 

1,686 

    

 Loss per share  

Basic loss per share (cents)  

Diluted loss per share (cents) 

 

(10) 

(9) 

 

(1,170) 

(1,170) 

 

NOTE 10: CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

  Consolidated Group 

  2020 
US$ 

2019 
US$ 

Cash at bank and on hand  4,209,174 210,750 

  4,209,174 210,750 

Reconciliation of cash    

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year as shown 
in the statement of cash flows is reconciled to items in the statement 
of financial position as follows: 

   

Cash and cash equivalents  4,209,174 210,750 

  4,209,174 210,750 

 



PYX Resources | Annual Report 2020 

83 PYX Resources | Annual Report 2020 

 

   

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 

 
NOTE 11: TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 
 Note Consolidated Group 

  2020 
US$ 

2019 
US$ 

CURRENT    

Trade receivables  266,000 - 

Provision for impairment  - - 

  266,000 - 

Other receivables  443,269 203,896 

Provision for impairment 11a(i) (1,178) (1,178) 

  442,091 202,718 

Total current trade and other receivables  708,091 202,718 

NON-CURRENT    

Other receivables  - 201,000 

Provision for impairment  - - 

Total non-current trade and other receivables  - 201,000 

 

The following table shows the movement in lifetime expected credit loss that has been recognised for trade 
and other receivables in accordance with the simplified approach set out in AASB 9: Financial Instruments. 
  

Opening 
balance  

Net 
measure- 
ment of 

loss 
allowance 

Amounts 
written off 

Closing 
balance 

  1 July 
2018   

30 June 
2019 

  US$ US$ US$ US$ 

a. Lifetime Expected Credit Loss: Credit 
Impaired 

     

 (i) Current other receivables  - 1,178 - 1,178 

    - 1.178 - 1,178 

 
  

Opening 
balance  

Net 
measure- 

ment of loss 
allowance 

Amounts 
written off 

Closing 
balance 

  1 July 
2019   

30 June 
2020 

  US$ US$ US$ US$ 

 

 (i) Current other receivables  1,178 - - 1,178 

    1,178 - - 1,178 
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The Group applies the simplified approach to providing for expected credit losses prescribed by AASB 
9, which permits the use of the lifetime expected loss provision for all trade receivables. To measure the 
expected credit losses, trade receivables have been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics 
and the days past due. The loss allowance provision as at 30 June 2020 is determined as follows; the 
expected credit losses also incorporate forward-looking information. 

 The "amounts written off" are all due to customers declaring bankruptcy, or term receivables that have 
now become unrecoverable. 

 Credit risk 

 The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk with respect to any single counterparty or 
group of counterparties other than those receivables specifically provided for and mentioned within 
Note 10. The class of assets described as "trade and other receivables" is considered to be the main 
source of credit risk related to the Group. 

 The Group always measures the loss allowance for trade receivables at an amount equal to lifetime 
expected credit loss. The expected credit losses on trade receivables are estimated using a provision 
matrix by reference to past default experience of the debtor and an analysis of the debtor's current 
financial position, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtor, general economic conditions of 
the industry in which the debtor operates and an assessment of both the current and the forecast 
direction of conditions at the reporting date. 

 There has been no change in the estimation techniques used or significant assumptions made during 
the current reporting period. 

 The Group writes off a trade receivable when there is information indicating that the debtor is in severe 
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery; for example, when the debtor has been 
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or when the trade receivables are 
over two years past due, whichever occurs earlier. None of the trade receivables that have been written 
off are subject to enforcement activities. 

b. Collateral Held as Security 

 The Group does not hold any collateral over the trade and other receivables. 

c. Financial Assets Measured at Amortised Cost 
   Consolidated Group 

  Note 2020 
US$ 

2019 
US$ 

 Trade and other receivables:    

 –  total current  708,091 202,718 

 –  total non-current  - 201,000 

 Total financial assets measured at amortised cost 24 708,091 403,718 

d. Collateral Pledged 

 The Group does not hold any collateral over the trade and other receivables. 
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NOTE 12: INVENTORIES 

  Consolidated Group 

  2020 
US$ 

2019 
US$ 

CURRENT    

At cost:    

Raw materials  - 114,124 

Finished goods  183,116 358,078 

  183,116 472,202 

 
NOTE 13: INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 
 
a. Information about Principal Subsidiaries 

 The subsidiaries listed below have share capital consisting solely of ordinary shares, which are held 
directly or indirectly by the Group. The proportion of ownership interests held equals the voting rights 
held by the Group. Each subsidiary’s principal place of business is also its country of incorporation. 

 
Name of Subsidiary 

Principal Place of 
Business 

Ownership Interest Held 
by the Group 

Proportion of Non-
controlling Interests 

   2020 2019 2020 2019 

   % % % % 

 Takmur Pte Limited* Singapore 100% - - - 

 PT Andary Usaha 
Makmur* 

Indonesia 99% 99% 1% 1% 

 PT Investasi Mandiri* Indonesia - - 100%** 100%** 

       

 * These subsidiaries have financial year end of 31 December. 

 ** This entity is accounted for as a controlled entity on the bases that control was obtained through the 
execution of an exclusive operations and management agreement between PT Andary Usaha Makmur 
and PT Investasi Mandiri and was for nil purchase consideration. 

 

The non-controlling interests in PT Andary Usaha Makmur is not material to the Group. 

Subsidiary financial statements used in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements have also 
been prepared as at the same reporting date as the Group’s financial statements. 

 

b. Acquisition of Controlled Entities 

 Details of acquisition of Takmur Pte Limited are shown at note 5. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 

c. Summarised Financial Information of Subsidiaries with Material Non-controlling Interests 

 Set out below is the summarised financial information for each subsidiary that has non-controlling interests that are 
material to the Group, before any intragroup eliminations.  

  PT Investasi Mandiri 

  2020 
US$ 

2019 
US$ 

 Summarised Financial Position   

 Current assets 1,417,098 1,006,264 

 Non-current assets 1,101,310 882,584 

 Current liabilities (2,024,938) (834,367) 

 Non-current liabilities (18,608) (42,557) 

 NET ASSETS 474,862 1,011,924 

 Carrying amount of non-controlling interests 474,862 1,011,924 

    

 Summarised Financial Performance   

 Revenue 7,816,397 2,903,161 

 (Loss)/profit after tax (584,529) 253,460 

 Other comprehensive income after tax 54,325 - 

 Total comprehensive income (530,204) 253,460 

 (Loss)/profit attributable to non-controlling 
interests 

(530,204) 253,460 

 Distributions paid to non-controlling interests - - 

    

 Summarised Cash Flow Information   

 Net cash (used in)/from operating activities (1,307,132) 307,211 

 Net cash used in investing activities (428,208) (81,818) 

 Net cash from/(used in) financing activities 1,711,280 (38,361) 

 Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash 
equivalents 

 

(24,060) 

 

187,032 
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NOTE 14: PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
  Consolidated Group 

  2020 
US$ 

2019 
US$ 

Land and Buildings    

Freehold land at cost  194,543 45,966 

Total land  194,543 45,966 

    

Buildings at cost  635,851 525,398 

Accumulated depreciation  (123,293) (91,945) 

Total buildings  512,558 433,453 

Total land and buildings  707,101 479,419 

    

Plant and Equipment    

Plant and equipment at cost  495,031 133,967 

Accumulated depreciation  (72,821) (51,569) 

Total plant and equipment  422,210 82,398 

Motor Vehicles    

Motor vehicles at cost  22,894 4,354 

Accumulated depreciation  (954) - 

Total motor vehicles  21,940 4,354 

Furniture and Fittings    

Furniture and fittings at cost  28,076 - 

Accumulated depreciation  (1,081) - 

Total furniture and fittings  26,995 - 

Total property, plant and equipment  1,178,246 566,171 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 June 2020 
 

a. Movements in Carrying Amounts 

 Movements in the carrying amounts for each class of property, plant and equipment between the beginning 
and the end of the current financial year: 

 Freehold 
Land Buildings 

Plant and 
Equipment 

Motor 
Vehicles 

Furniture 
and Fittings Total 

 US$ US$ US$ US$ US$ US$ 

Consolidated Group:       

Balance at 1 July 2018 43,185 444,921 83,418 4,354 - 575,878 

Additions 2,781 - 6,483 - - 9,264 

Depreciation expense - (11,468) (7,503) - - (18,971) 

Balance at 30 June 2019 45,966 433,453 82,398 4,354 - 566,171 

Balance at 1 July 2019 45,966 433,453 82,398 4,354 - 566,171 

Additions 148,577 108,882 362,506 22,894 28,076 670,935 

Disposals - - - (4,354) - (4,354) 

Depreciation expense - (29,777) (22,694) (954) (1,081) (54,506) 

Balance at 30 June 2020 194,543 512,558 422,210 21,940 26,995 1,178,246 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 June 2020 
 

NOTE 15: INTANGIBLE ASSETS 
  Consolidated Group 

  2020 
US$ 

2019 
US$ 

Goodwill:    

Cost  7,774 7,774 

Accumulated impairment losses  - - 

Net carrying amount  7,774 7,774 

Total intangible assets  7,774 7,774 

 
 Goodwill 

 US$ 

Consolidated Group:  

Year ended 30 June 2019  

Balance at the beginning of the year - 

Acquisitions through business combinations 7,774 

Closing value at 30 June 2019 7,774 

Year ended 30 June 2020  

Balance at the beginning of the year 7,774 

Closing value at 30 June 2020 7,774 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 
 

NOTE 16: RIGHT OF USE ASSETS 
 

The Group’s lease portfolio includes motor vehicles & Office Building. These leases have an average of 4 years for 
the vehicle and 2 years for Office Building as their lease term. 

i) AASB 16 related amounts recognised in the balance sheet 

Right of use assets 

 2020 2019 

 

Leased Buildings 

Accumulated depreciation 

 

US$ 

11,187 

(932) 

10,255 

 

US$ 

- 

- 

- 

Leased Motor Vehicles 140,484 152,077 

Accumulated depreciation (74,979) 

65,505 

 

(36,664) 

115,413 

Total Right of use assets 75,760 115,413 

   

Movement in carrying amounts:   

Leased Buildings:   

Additions 11,195 - 

Depreciation expense (940) - 

Net Carrying Amount 10,255 - 

 

Leased Motor Vehicles: 

  

Opening balance  

Acquisitions through business combinations 

115,413 

- 

- 

128,498 

Additions 

Disposals 

1,947 

(13,558) 

- 

- 

Depreciation expense (38,297) (13,085) 

Net Carrying Amount 65,505 115,413 

 

Total Right of use assets 

 

75,760 

 

 

115,413 

 

ii) AASB 16 related amounts recognised in the statement of profit or loss  

 2020 2019 

 US$ US$ 

Depreciation charge related to right-of-use assets 39,237 13,085 

Interest expense on lease liabilities 11,407 5,301 

Short term lease expenses 100,366 19,041 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 
 

NOTE 17: TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 
 Note Consolidated Group 

  2020 
$ 

2019 
$ 

CURRENT    

Unsecured liabilities:    

Trade payables  77,880 - 

Sundry payables and accrued expenses  250,241 600,874 

  328,121 600,874 

a. Financial liabilities at amortised cost classified as trade 
and other payables  

   

 Trade and other payables:    

 –  total current  328,121 600,874 

 Financial liabilities as trade and other payables 24 328,121 600,874 

 

NOTE 18: LEASE LIABILITIES 

At 30 June 2020, the Group had lease liabilities as follows: 

  Consolidated Group 

 2020 
US$ 

2019 
US$ 

Current 19,590 43,594 

Non-current 18,608 42,557 

 38,198 86,151 

 

NOTE 19: TAX 
  Consolidated Group 

  2020 
US$ 

2019 
US$ 

CURRENT    

Income tax payable  39,884 212,826 
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NOTE 20: ISSUED CAPITAL 
 

 

  Consolidated Group 

  2020 
US$ 

2019 
US$ 

267,777,037 (2019: 2,500) fully paid ordinary shares  14,873,158 1,178 

  14,873,158 1,178 

  

  Consolidated Group  

 2020 2019 

  No. of  

shares 

Contributed 

equity 

No. of  

shares 

Contributed 

equity 

   US$  US$ 

a. Ordinary Shares     

 At the beginning of the reporting period 2,500 1,178 1,000 734 

 Elimination of Takmur Pte Ltd. (2,500) - - - 

 Shares issued during the year:     

 –  15 January 2019 - - 1,500 444 

 –  31 January 2020 18,284,582 - - - 

 –  31 January 2020 210,274,171 4,917,856 - - 

 –  Share issue costs - (558,519) - - 

 –  25 February 2020 35,000,000 9,378,600 - - 

 –  6 April 2020 4,218,284 1,134,043 - - 

 At the end of the reporting period 267,777,037 14,873,158 2,500 1,178 

  

 On 31 January 2020, the Company completed acquisition of Takmur via a reverse takeover. Essentially the business of 
Takmur and its controlled entities is the main undertaking of the Group going forward. As part of the acquisition of 
Takmur, the Company issued 210,274,171 shares to the vendors of Takmur; 

On 31 January 2020, Takmur is deemed to have issued 18,282,082 shares to the shareholders of the Company at the 
date of reverse takeover.  

On 25 February 2020, the Company completed a successful capital raise of AU$14million, with 35,000,000 shares issued 
at AU$0.40 per share; 

On 6 April 2020, 4,218,284 shares issued on conversion of 5,186,568 Performance Rights to Shares on achievement of 
milestones. 

 Ordinary shares participate in dividends and the proceeds on winding-up of the Parent Entity in proportion to the 
number of shares held. 

 

 At the shareholders’ meetings each ordinary share is entitled to one vote when a poll is called; otherwise each 
shareholder has one vote on a show of hands. 

 

b. Capital Management  

 Management controls the capital of the Group in order to maintain a sustainable debt to equity ratio, generate 
long-term shareholder value and ensure that the Group can fund its operations and continue as a going concern. 

 The Group’s debt and capital include ordinary share capital, redeemable preference shares, convertible preference 
shares and financial liabilities, supported by financial assets. 

 The Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 

NOTE 20: ISSUED CAPITAL (CONTINUED)

Management effectively manages the Group’s capital by assessing the Group’s financial risks and adjusting its 
capital structure in response to changes in these risks and in the market. These responses include the 
management of debt levels, distributions to shareholders and share issues. 

There have been no changes in the strategy adopted by management to control the capital of the Group since 
the prior year.  

Note Consolidated Group 

2020 
US$ 

2019 
US$ 

Total borrowings 38,198 86,151 

Less cash and cash equivalents 10 4,209,174 210,750 

Net debt (4,170,976) (124,599) 

Total equity 6,408,329 996,771 

Total capital 6,408,329 996,771 

Gearing ratio 0.6% 8.6% 

NOTE 21: CAPITAL AND LEASING COMMITMENTS Consolidated Group 

2020 
US$ 

2019 
US$ 

Lease Liabilities Commitments 

Payable – minimum lease payments: 

– not later than 12 months 19,590 43,594 

– later than 1 year 18,608 42,557 

Minimum lease payments 38,198 86,151 

Less future finance charges - - 

Present value of minimum leave payments 38,198 86,151 

The lease on Motor Vehicle, which commenced mostly in 2017, 
is a 4-year lease with an option to refinance at the end.  
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 
 
NOTE 22: CASH FLOW INFORMATION 

 Consolidated Group 

 2020 
US$ 

2019 
US$ 

a. Reconciliation of Cash Flows from Operating Activities with 
(Loss)/profit after Income Tax 

  

 (Loss)/profit after income tax (10,885,894) 233,730 

 Non-cash flows in (loss)/profit:   

 – depreciation 93,743 32,056 

 – listing and acquisition costs 7,152,516 - 

 – share-based payment 2,519,930 - 

 – exchange difference on translation 270,593 2,635 

 Changes in assets and liabilities, net of the effects of purchase and 
disposal of subsidiaries: 

  

 – increase in trade and other receivables (270,411) (321,881) 

 – increase in advances to suppliers (232,842) (120,594) 

 – decrease in inventories 289,086 230,315 

 – increase in prepayments and deposits (13,155) - 

 – increase in deferred tax assets (85,780) - 

 – (decrease)/increase in trade and other payables (540,897) 169,652 

 – (decrease)/increase in current tax liabilities (169,237) 42,436 

 Net cash generated by operating activities (1,872,348) 268,349 

    
 

b. Changes in Liabilities arising from Financing Activities 

 

    Non-cash changes  

  1 July    
2019 

US$ 

Cash 
flows 

US$ 

     Acquisition 

US$ 

 Re-classification 

US$ 

30 June 
2020 

US$ 

 Short term borrowings - (40,747) 40,747 - - 

 Lease liabilities 86,151 (47,953) - - 38,198 

 Total 86,151 (88,700) 40,747 - 38,198 

 

 (ii) RTO:   

  Refer to note 5 for details of non-cash financing activities arising from RTO. 
 

c. Non-cash Financing and Investing Activities   

 (i) Share issue:   

  Refer to note 20 for details of non-cash financing activities arising from shares issued. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 
 

NOTE 23: RELATED PARTY TRANSACTION 

Transaction Services Pty Ltd, a related party of Mr. Martino, provided office rental and office supplies. For the 
period to 31 January 2020 Transaction Services Pty Ltd was paid $34,315 (AU$50,000) (2019: Nil) inclusive of 
GST and expenses recognised for that period totalled $34,315 (AU$50,000) (2019: $109,784 (AU$156,544)) 
inclusive of GST. A total of $Nil (2019: $229,042 (AU$326,596)) inclusive of GST, remains due and payable at 
year end. During the year Transaction Services Pty Ltd received 21,773,051 shares pre-consolidation (1,088,652 
post 20: 1 consolidation) for fees outstanding as at 30 June 2019 at a price of AU$0.015 per share. 

Indian Ocean Corporate Pty Ltd is a related party of Mr. Martino, providing company secretarial and 
accounting services to the Company. For the period to 31 January 2020, Indian Ocean Corporate Pty Ltd was 
paid $41,521 (AU$60,500) (2019: NIL), inclusive of GST and expenses recognised for that period totalled 
$41,521 (AU$60,500) (2019: $92,572 (AU$132,000) inclusive of GST. A total of AU$5,500 (2019: AU$253,000), 
inclusive of GST, remains due and payable at year end. During the year Indian Ocean Corporate Pty Ltd 
received 16,866,667 shares pre- consolidation (843,333 shares post 20:1 consolidation) for fees outstanding 
as at 30 June 2019 at a price of AU$0.015 per share. 

Indian Ocean Consulting Group is a related party of Mr. Martino, providing taxation services to the Company. 
For the period to 31 January 2020, Indian Ocean Consulting Group has been paid $1,812 (AU$2,640) (2019: Nil) 
inclusive of GST, expenses recognized during the year totalling $1,812 (AU$2,640) (2019:Nil) inclusive of 
GST. A total of $1,359 (AU$1,980) (2019:Nil), inclusive of GST, remains due and payable at year end. 

Fanucci Pty Ltd, a related party of Mr. Martino, provided a loan to the Company during the year. As at year end 
the balance was $Nil (2019: $37,125 (AU$52,938)), and all amounts have been repaid. The loan was interest 
free and repayable on demand. No security has been provided in respect of the loan. 

Phoenician Management Services Limited, a related party of Mr. Hasler, provided management support, general 
administration and IT services to PT Investasi Mandiri, after acquisition. Phoenician Management Services 
Limited has been paid and expenses recognised during the year totalling $462,500 (2019: $54,781). 
 
NOTE 24: FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
The Group’s financial instruments consist mainly of deposits with banks, accounts receivable and payable, loan 
and leases. 

The totals for each category of financial instruments, measured in accordance with AASB 9: Financial 
Instruments as detailed in the accounting policies to these financial statements, are as follows: 

 
 
 Note Consolidated Group 

  2020 
US$ 

2019 
US$ 

Financial assets    

Financial assets at amortised cost    

–  cash and cash equivalents 10 4,209,174 210,750 

–  trade and other receivables 11c 708,091 403,718 

  4,917,265 614,468 

Total financial assets  4,917,265 614,468 

Financial liabilities    

Financial liabilities at amortised cost:    

–  trade and other payables 17 328,121 600,874 

–  Lease liabilities 18 38,198 86,151 

Total financial liabilities  366,319 687,025 
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Financial Risk Management Policies 

The Finance and Operations Committee (FOC) has been delegated responsibility by the Board of Directors for, 
among other issues, managing financial risk exposures of the Group. The FOC monitors the Group’s financial 
risk management policies and exposures and approves financial transactions within the scope of its authority. 
It also reviews the effectiveness of internal controls relating to commodity price risk, counterparty credit risk, 
foreign currency risk, liquidity risk, and interest rate risk. The FOC meets on a bi-monthly basis and minutes of 
the FOC are reviewed by the Board. 

The FOC’s overall risk management strategy seeks to assist the Consolidated Group in meeting its financial 
targets, while minimising potential adverse effects on financial performance. Its functions include the review 
of the use of hedging derivative instruments, credit risk policies and future cash flow requirements. 

Specific financial risk exposures and management 

The main risks the Group is exposed to through its financial instruments are credit risk, liquidity risk, and 
market risk consisting of interest rate risk, foreign currency risk and other price risk (commodity and equity 
price risk). There have been no substantive changes in the types of risks the Group is exposed to, how these 
risks arise, or the Board’s objectives, policies and processes for managing or measuring the risks from the 
previous period. 

a. Credit risk 

 Exposure to credit risk relating to financial assets arises from the potential non-performance by 
counterparties of contract obligations that could lead to a financial loss to the Group. 

 Credit risk is managed through the maintenance of procedures (such as the utilisation of systems for 
the approval, granting and renewal of credit limits, regular monitoring of exposures against such limits 
and monitoring of the financial stability of significant customers and counterparties), ensuring to the 
extent possible that customers and counterparties to transactions are of sound credit worthiness. Such 
monitoring is used in assessing receivables for impairment. Depending on the division within the 
Group, credit terms are generally 14 to 30 days from the invoice date. 

  

 Trade and other receivables that are neither past due nor impaired are considered to be of high credit 
quality. Aggregates of such amounts are detailed in Note 11. 

b. Liquidity risk 

 Liquidity risk arises from the possibility that the Group might encounter difficulty in settling its debts 
or otherwise meeting its obligations related to financial liabilities. The Group manages this risk 
through the following mechanisms: 

 – preparing forward-looking cash flow analyses in relation to its operating, investing and 
financing activities; 

 – obtaining funding from a Parent Group; 

 – 

– 

– 

 

maintaining a reputable credit profile; 

managing credit risk related to financial assets; and 

comparing the maturity profile of financial liabilities with the realisation profile of financial 
assets. 

 The following table reflects an undiscounted contractual maturity analysis for financial assets and 
financial liabilities.  

 Cash flows realised from financial assets reflect management’s expectation as to the timing of 
realisation. Actual timing may therefore differ from that disclosed. The timing of cash flows presented 
in the table to settle financial liabilities reflects the earliest contractual settlement dates and does not 
reflect management’s expectations that banking facilities will be rolled forward. 
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NOTE 24: FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
Financial liability and financial asset 
maturity analysis Within 1 Year 1 to 5 Years Total 

 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 

Consolidated Group US$ US$ US$ US$ US$ US$ 

Financial liabilities due for payment       

Trade and other payables 328,121 600,874 - - 328,121 600,874 

Lease liabilities 19,590 43,594 18,608 42,557 38,198 86,151 

Total expected outflows 347,711 644,468 18,608 42,557 366,319 687,025 

Financial assets – cash flows realisable       

Cash and cash equivalents 4,209,174 210,750 - - 4,209,174 210,750 

Trade and other receivables 708,091 202,718 - 201,000 708,091 403,718 

Total anticipated inflows  4,917,265 413,468 - 201,000 4,917,265 614,468 

Net (outflow)/ inflow on financial 
instruments 4,569,554 (231,000) (18,608) 158,443 4,550,946 (72,557) 

Financial assets pledged as collateral 

Certain financial assets have been pledged as security for debt and their realisation into cash may be restricted subject 
to terms and conditions attached to the relevant debt contracts.  

 

 

c. Market risk 

 (i) Other price risk 

  Other price risk relates to the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial 
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices for Zircon largely due to demand 
and supply factors (other than those arising from interest rate risk or foreign currency risk) for 
sand minerals. 

  The Group is exposed to commodity price risk through the operations of its Zircon Produce. 
Contracts for the sale and physical delivery of Zircons are executed whenever possible on a 
pricing basis intended to achieve a relevant index target. Where pricing terms deviate from the 
index, derivative commodity contracts may be used when available to return realised prices to 
the index. Contracts for the physical delivery of Zircon are generally not financial instruments 
and are carried in the statement of financial position at cost (typically at nil). There were no 
hedges in place at the end of the reporting period. 

 (ii) Foreign currency risk 

  Exposure to foreign currency risk may result in the fair value or future cash flows of a financial 
instrument fluctuating due to movement in foreign exchange rates of currencies in which the 
Group holds financial instruments which are other than the USD functional and presentation 
currency of the Group. 

  With instruments being held by overseas operations, fluctuations in the IDR and AUD may 
impact on the Group’s financial results unless those exposures are appropriately hedged. 

  The following table shows the foreign currency risk on the financial assets and liabilities of the 
Group’s operations denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of the Group’s 
operations. The foreign currency risk in the books of the Parent Entity is considered immaterial 
and is therefore not shown. 
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NOTE 24: FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
2020 Net Financial Assets/(Liabilities) in USD 

Consolidated Group USD AUD Total USD 

Functional currency of entity:    

US dollar - 3,991 3,991 

Indonesian Rupiah 314 - 314 

Statement of financial position exposure 314 3,991 4,305 

 

2019 Net Financial Assets/(Liabilities) in USD 

Consolidated Group USD AUD Total USD 

Functional currency of entity:    

Indonesian Rupiah  5 - 5 

Statement of financial position exposure                      5 -                       5 

 

Fair Values 

Fair value estimation 

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are presented in the following table and can be 
compared to their carrying amounts as presented in the statement of financial position.  

Differences between fair values and carrying amounts of financial instruments with fixed interest rates are due 
to the change in discount rates being applied by the market since their initial recognition by the Group. 
    
  2020 2019 

Consolidated Group Note 

Carrying 
Amount 

US$ 

Fair  
Value 
US$ 

Carrying 
Amount 

US$ 

Fair 
Value 
US$ 

Financial assets      

Financial assets at amortised cost:      

Cash and cash equivalents(i) 10 4,209,174 4,209,174 210,750 210,750 

Trade and other receivables(i) 11 708,091 708,091 403,718 403,718 

Total financial assets  4,917,265 4,917,265 614,468 614,468 

Financial liabilities at amortised cost     

Trade and other payables(i) 17 328,121 328,121 600,874 600,874 

Lease liabilities(i 18 38,198 38,198 86,151 86,151 

Total financial liabilities  366,319 366,319 687,025 687,025 
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NOTE 24: FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
(i) The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables, trade and other 

payables and lease liabilities are equivalent to their fair values.  
 
NOTE 25: RESERVES 
a. Share Based Payment Reserve 

 The share based payment reserve records items recognised as expenses on valuation of share based 
payments. 

b. Foreign Currency Translation Reserve 

 The foreign currency translation reserve records exchange differences arising on translation of the 
foreign controlled subsidiaries.  

c. Analysis of Each Class of Reserve 

   Consolidated Group 

  
 2020 

US$ 
2019 

US$ 

 Share Based Payment Reserve    

 Share based payments  2,519,930 - 

 Issue of shares to employees  (1,134,043) - 

 Movement in share based payment reserve  1,385,887 - 

     

 Foreign Currency Translation Reserve    

 Exchange differences on translation of foreign 
operations  (7,803) - 

 Movement in foreign currency translation reserve  (7,803) - 

 

NOTE 26: EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 

No significant events being noted by the management since the end of the reporting period. 
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Shareholder and investor information 
Additional information required by National Stock Exchange of Australia Limited and not shown 
elsewhere in this Annual Report is as follows. The information is as at 30 June 2020. 

 
SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION AS AT MOST RECENT BALANCE DATE (30 JUNE 2020) 

 

TWENTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS (AS AT 30 June 2020)    
 

Ordinary Shareholders Number of 
Ordinary 

Percentage 

 Shares Fully Paid  
   
PHOENIX FUND SOLUTIONS LIMITED 92,520,635 34.55 
TAKMUR SPC LIMITED 84,109,669 31.41 
BNP PARIBAS NOMINEES PTY LTD 35,037,910 13.08 
SINO VENTURES LIMITED 10,934,257 4.08 
CEDRUS INVESTMENTS LTD 4,218,284 1.58 
AUGMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED 4,000,000 1.49 
SINOWIDE INTERNATIONAL LIMITED 3,504,805 1.31 
PHOENICIAN GROUP LIMITED 3,490,538 1.30 
CEDRUS INVESTMENTS LTD 3,300,000 1.23 
PHOENICIAN LTD 3,300,000 1.23 
UNICO HOLDINGS LIMITED 3,054,805 1.14 
TAMARIND RESOURCES PRIVATE LIMITED 2,951,230 1.10 
J P MORGAN NOMINEES AUSTRALIA PTY LIMITED 2,620,713 0.98 
PHOENICIAN GROUP LIMITED 2,252,000 0.84 
LIGHTGLOW ENTERPRISES PTY LTD 1,196,378 0.45 
FANUCCI PTY LTD 1,048,166 0.39 
CEDRUS INTERNATIONAL LIMITED 795,025 0.30 
CA RESOURCES PTY LTD 765,300 0.29 
APEZO PTY LTD 740,000 0.28 
CUMANI INVESTMENTS PTY LTD 637,500 0.24 
   
 260,477,215 97.27 

 
 

DISTRIBUTION OF SHARE HOLDERS (AS AT 30 JUNE 2020) 

 
SPREADS OF HOLDINGS NUMBER OF HOLDERS NUMBER OF UNITS 

1  -  1,000 391 105,276 
1,001  -  5,000 97 228,949 

5,001  -  10,000 32 244,080 
10,001  -  100,000 73 2,491,850 

100,001  -  999,999,999,999 35 264,706,882 
TOTAL 628 267,777,037 
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VOTING RIGHTS 
Each member entitled to vote may vote in person or by proxy or by attorney and on a show of hands.  
 
 
Every person who is a member or a representative or a proxy of a member shall have one vote and on 
a poll every member present in person or by proxy or attorney or other authorised representative shall 
have one vote for each share held. 

 
SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION AS AT 30 JUNE 2020 

 
 
NUMBER OF HOLDERS OF EQUITY SECURITIES 
ORDINARY SHAREHOLDERS 
There are 267,777,037 fully paid ordinary shares on issue, held by 628 individual shareholders as at 30 June 2020. 

 
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS 
As at 30 June 2020, the following shareholders were recorded in the Register as a Substantial Shareholder. 

 
  Fully Paid Ordinary 

Ordinary Shareholders Number Percentage 
Phoenix Fund Solutions Limited 92,520,635 34.55 
Takmur SPC Limited 84,109,669 31.41 

 
OPTIONS 
As at 30 June 2020 the Company had 537,500 unlisted options on issue with an exercise price of $1.00 
and an expiry date of 22 February 2023, held by Tamarind Classic Resources Private Limited. Unlisted 
options do not carry any voting rights. 

 
PERFORMANCE RIGHTS 
As at 30 June 2020 the Company had 12,488,808 Performance Rights held by Mr. Oliver Hasler on issue 
that are convertible into a maximum of 14,955,344 Shares, subject to the achievement of milestones 
as follows: 
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RESTRICTED SECURITIES 
As at 30 June 2020 restricted securities are as follows: 
• Phoenix Fund Solutions Limited, 92,520,635 Shares. Restricted for 6 months from quotation (25 August 2020) 
• Takmur SPC Limited, 84,109,669 Shares. Restricted for 6 months from quotation (25 August 2020) 
• Mr. Alvin Tan, 638,811 Shares. Restricted for 24 months from quotation (25 February 2022) 

978,261           30/6/2021 2020 Target EBITDA
195,652                  Continuous employment to 31 December 2020
293,478                  Continuous employment and more than 20% - 30% of 2020 Target EBITDA
391,304                  Continuous employment and more than 30% - 40% of 2020 Target EBITDA
489,131                  Continuous employment and more than 40% - 75% of 2020 Target EBITDA

489,131-1,467,392 Continuous employment and more than 75% - 125% of 2020 Target EBITDA (pro-rata)
1,467,392               Continuous employment and more than 125% of 2020 Target EBITDA

1,278,866        30/6/2021 2020 Target Sales Volume
255,773                  Continuous employment to 31 December 2020
383,660                  Continuous employment and more than 20% - 30% of 2020 Target Sales Volume
511,546                  Continuous employment and more than 30% - 40% of 2020 Target Sales Volume
639,433                  Continuous employment and more than 40% - 75% of 2020 Target Sales Volume

639,433-1,918,299 Continuous employment and more than 75% - 125% of 2020 Target Sales Volume (pro-rata)
1,918,299               Continuous employment and more than 125% of 2020 Target Sales Volume

1,141,304        30/6/2022 2021 Target EBITDA
228,261                  Continuous employment to 31 December 2021
342,391                  Continuous employment and more than 20% - 30% of 2021 Target EBITDA
456,522                  Continuous employment and more than 30% - 40% of 2021 Target EBITDA
570,652                  Continuous employment and more than 40% - 75% of 2021 Target EBITDA

570,652-1,711,957 Continuous employment and more than 75% - 125% of 2021 Target EBITDA (pro-rata)
1,711,956               Continuous employment and more than 125% of 2021 Target EBITDA

1,534,639        30/6/2022 2021 Target Sales Volume
306,928                  Continuous employment to 31 December 2021
460,392                  Continuous employment and more than 20% - 30% of 2021 Target Sales Volume
613,856                  Continuous employment and more than 30% - 40% of 2021 Target Sales Volume
767,320                  Continuous employment and more than 40% - 75% of 2021 Target Sales Volume

767,320-2,301,959 Continuous employment and more than 75% - 125% of 2021 Target Sales Volume (pro-rata)
2,301,959               Continuous employment and more than 125% of 2021 Target Sales Volume

1,940,350        1,940,350               31/12/2022 Share price reaching AU$1.14 at any time from 1 November 2019 to 31 Dec 2022

2,182,894        2,182,894               31/12/2022 Share price reaching AU$1.52 at any time from 1 November 2019 to 31 Dec 2022

3,432,494        3,432,494               31/12/2022 Share price reaching AU$1.90 at any time from 1 November 2019 to 31 Dec 2022

12,488,808        14,955,344      
(maximum) 

No. of 
Performance 

Rights

Potential No. of 
Shares Expiry Date Performance Condition



PYX Resources | Annual Report 2020 

108 PYX Resources | Annual Report 
 

 

 

 
 

Glossary 
Where the following terms are used in this Annual Report, they have the following meanings: 

 
Acquisition means the acquisition by the Company of all of the issued capital in Takmur via the Share Exchange Agreement.  

ASIC means the Australian Securities and Investments Commission. 

ASX means ASX Limited ABN 008 624 691. 
 

AU$ means Australian Dollar as the currency of the Commonwealth of Australia. 
 

Awards means Options or Performance Rights, as the context requires, granted under the Stock Incentive Plan.  

Board means the board of Directors of the Company. 

Chairman means the chairman of the Board from time to time. 
 

Company or PYX means PYX Resources Limited ABN 30 073 099 171, being a company incorporated in Australia and having registered 
address at Level 6, 56 Pitt Street, Sydney NSW 2000. 

 
Company Secretary means the company secretary of the Company. 

 
Completion means completion of the Share Exchange Agreement in accordance with its terms and conditions. 

Constitution means the constitution of the Company. 

Consolidation means the 20:1 consolidation of the capital of the Company the subject of a resolution at the General Meeting. 
 

Act means the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth). 
 

Group Company means the Company or any associated body corporate. 
 

Heavy Mineral Concentrate (HMC) means the heavy mineral concentrate of zircon, rutile, and ilmenite. 
 

Heavy Mineral (HM) or Heavy Mineral Sands (HMS) describes layered sediments deposited in coastal environments that contain 
dense (“heavy") minerals of economic value. The heavy minerals extracted from these coastal deposits contain mostly titanium 
components and zircon. 
 
IUP-OP means “Izin Usaha Pertambangan Operasi Produksi”, or Mining Business Permit for Production Operations granted by 
the Government of Indonesia. 

 
JORC or JORC Code means the 2012 Australian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Oil and Gas Reserves. 

Listing means the admission of the Company and Official Quotation of the securities of the Company. 

Listing Rules means the official listing rules of NSX. 
 

Mandiri or PTIM means PT Investasi Mandiri, a subsidiary of Takmur. 
 

Mandiri Plant means the heavy mineral sands processing plant forming part of the assets of Mandiri. 
Mineral Separation Plant (MSP) means the plant that mines and processes sand in the production of industrial minerals such as ilmenite, rutile, 
monazite and zircon. The plant conducts dry mining of beach washings, which are then processed through wet gravity separation equipment. 
Through the separation process, heavy minerals are isolated using their individual specific gravity, electrical conductivity, magnetic 
susceptibility, and surface characteristics. 

 
Mandiri Project means Takmur’s mineral sands project located at the Mandiri Tenement including the Mandiri Tenement, Mandiri Plant 
and the operations of Mandiri. 

 
Mandiri Tenement means the area as stated in the IUP-OP. 
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Mining Field Unit (MFU) means the specialized mining equipment used in the mineral sands industry including diesel pumps and riffle boxes, 
dedicated to pump soil into hydrocyclones and spirals in order to obtain Heavy Mineral Concentrate through the wet concentration process. 

 
NSX means the National Stock Exchange of Australia. 

 
Offers means the Public Offer and Takmur Offer, contained in this Prospectus. 

Official List means the official list of NSX. 
 

Official Quotation means the quotation of securities on the securities market operated by NSX. 
 

Option means an option granted pursuant to the Stock Incentive Plan to subscribe for a Share upon and subject to the terms of the Stock 
Incentive Plan and the terms of any applicable offer. 

 
Performance Right means a right to acquire a Share, subject to satisfaction of any vesting conditions, and the corresponding obligation 
of the Company to provide the Share, pursuant to a binding contract made by the Company under the Stock Incentive Plan. 

 
PT AUM means PT Andary Usaha Makmur, a 99% owned subsidiary of Takmur. 

Share means a fully paid ordinary share in the capital of the Company. 

Share Exchange Agreement means the agreement between the Company and Takmur Vendors dated 30 July 2019. 

Shareholder means a holder of legal title to Shares (collectively). 

Share Registry means Advanced Share registry Services Pty Ltd, 110 Stirling Highway, Nedlands Western Australia 6909. 

SPB means South Pacific Resources Limited ARBN 613 928 671. 

Stock Incentive Plan means the Stock Incentive Plan voted on at the General Meeting. 
 

Takmur means Takmur Pte. Ltd. a company incorporated in Singapore with company number: 20181911Z and registered address: #14- 
02, The Arcade, 11 Collyer Quay, Downtown Core, 049317, Singapore. 

 
Takmur Vendors means the shareholders of Takmur, being Phoenix Fund Solutions Limited, Takmur SPC Limited, Sinowide International 
Limited, Sino Ventures Limited and Unico Holdings Limited. 

 
Takmur Offer means the offer of up to 210,274,171 new Shares to the Vendors of the issued capital in Takmur. 

Transaction means the Acquisition, Consolidation, the Offers and the Listing. 

USA means the United States of America. 

US$ means United States dollars, being the lawful currency of the USA. 
 

Valuable Heavy Mineral (VHM) means the subsection of Heavy Mineral Sands (HMS) deposits including only the Heavy Minerals (HM) with 
an economic value (mostly titanium components and Zircon) and excluding residual waste and water. 
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Corporate information 
 

 

Directors 
Mr. Oliver B. Hasler 
Mr. Gary J Artmont 
Mr. Bakhos Georges 
Mr. Alvin Tan 

 
Company Secretary 

Ms. Louisa Martino 
 

Registered Office 
Level 5, 56 Pitt Street 
Sydney NSW 2000 
Telephone: +612 8823 3132 
Website: www.pyxresources.com 

 
Auditors 

Hall Chadwick Pty Ltd 
Level 40, 2 Park Street 
Sydney NSW 2000 
Australia 

 
Share Registry 

Advanced Share Registry Pty Ltd 
110 Stirling Highway 
Nedlands, Western Australia, 6009 
Telephone: +618 9389 8033 
Facsimile: +618 9262 3723 

 
National Stock Exchange of Australia 
Listing NSX Code-PYX 

 
Australian Company Number and  
Australian Business Number  

                            ACN 073 099 171 
ABN 30 073 099 171 
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